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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

The Board of Directors
Del Monte Foods Holdings Limited
P.O. Box 957, Offshore Incorporation Centre
Road Town, Tortola
British Virgin Islands

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Del Monte Foods Holdings Limited and its
subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at
April 30, 2017 and May 1, 2016, and the consolidated income statements, consolidated statements of
comprehensive income, consolidated statements of changes in equity and consolidated statements of
cash flows for the years then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at April 30, 2017 and May 1, 2016, and
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the years then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audits in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants in the Philippines (Code
of Ethics) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated
financial statements in the Philippines, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Other Matter
The consolidated financial statements of Del Monte Foods Holdings Limited, prepared in
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, as at and for the year ended
May 3, 2015 were audited by another auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those
financial statements on July 31, 2015.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited

*SGVFS025682*

SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co.
6760 Ayala Avenue
1226 Makati City
Philippines

Tel: (632) 891 0307
Fax: (632) 819 0872
ey.com/ph

BOA/PRC Reg. No. 0001,
December 14, 2015, valid until December 31, 2018
SEC Accreditation No. 0012-FR-4 (Group A),
November 10, 2015, valid until November 9, 2018

-2-

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated
Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:


Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.



Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.



Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.
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Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.



Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.



Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

Makati City, Philippines
July 13, 2017

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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DEL MONTE FOODS HOLDINGS LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
(In thousands of US dollars, except share and per share data)

Note

April 30,
2017

May 1,
2016

ASSETS
Noncurrent Assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets and goodwill
Deferred tax assets
Other non-current assets
Total Noncurrent Assets

5
7
8
9

Current Assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Prepaid and other current assets
Cash
Assets held for sale
Total Current Assets

10
11
12
13
14

Total Assets

$464,701
728,121
92,219
5,557
1,290,598

$466,044
737,451
97,082
7,390
1,307,967

819,249
87,673
20,117
3,114
930,153

770,388
108,393
19,860
1,186
1,950
901,777

$2,220,751

$2,209,744

$-

$-

705,000
(112,381)
(199)
592,420
1,346
593,766

705,000
(70,869)
(24,071)
610,060
552
610,612

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Common stock ($1.00 par value, shares authorized:
50,000; issued and outstanding: 1)
Additional paid-in capital
Deficit
Reserves
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests
Total Equity
Noncurrent Liabilities
Term loans
Employee benefits
Environmental remediation liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Derivative liabilities
Other noncurrent liabilities
Total Noncurrent Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Loans and borrowings
Employee benefits
Trade and other payables
Derivative liabilities
Intercompany payables
Current tax liabilities
Total Current Liabilities
Total Liabilities
Total Equity and Liabilities

15
28

16
18
20
8
19
17

922,294
87,599
6,198
1,092
8,442
32,830
1,058,455

922,554
88,343
6,313
1,092
21,527
39,058
1,078,887

16
18
21
19
35

169,114
22,154
160,485
9,531
207,018
228
568,530
1,626,985

226,523
33,979
168,653
15,218
75,650
222
520,245
1,599,132

$2,220,751

$2,209,744

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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DEL MONTE FOODS HOLDINGS LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Income Statements
(In thousands of US dollars)

Net sales
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Distribution and selling expenses
General and administrative expenses
Transaction fees
Gain on bargain purchase
Other income (expenses) - net
Income (Loss) from operations

Year Ended
May 1,
2016
$1,778,002
(1,456,290)
321,712
(123,306)
(131,225)
(504)
33,163
99,840

May 3,
2015
$1,708,937
(1,441,122)
267,815
(118,040)
(179,306)
(3,008)
27,142
(11,913)
(17,310)

(80,822)

(71,693)

(65,576)

(48,359)

28,147

(82,886)

(1,005)
7,852
($41,512)

(1,544)
3,591
$30,194

(921)
29,282
($54,525)

April 30,
2017
Note
22 $1,696,457
23 (1,404,241)
292,216
23
(116,428)
23
(145,618)
4
4
24
2,293
32,463

Net finance expense

25

Profit (Loss) before taxation
Income tax expense – current
Income tax benefit – deferred
Profit (Loss)

26
26

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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DEL MONTE FOODS HOLDINGS LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(In thousands of US dollars)

Year Ended
April 30,
May 1,
2017
2016
Profit (Loss)
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Items that will not be reclassified to
profit or loss:
Re-measurement of retirement plans, net of
a tax benefit (expense) of ($5,821),
$7,279 and $8,797, respectively
Items that will or may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss:
Currency translation differences
Effective portion of changes in fair value of
cash flow hedges:
Interest rate swaps, net of tax benefit
(expense) of ($2,062), $5,709 and
$5,974, respectively
Cross-currency swaps – Peso, net of tax
(expense) benefit of ($415), ($860) and
$301, respectively
Commodity swaps – Natural gas, net of
tax benefit (expense) of ($85), $116 and
($32), respectively
Interest rate swaps - reclassification
adjustments to profit or loss net of tax
(expense) of ($4,332), ($875) and $0,
respectively

Note

($41,512)

18

12,646

(22)

May 3,
2015

$30,194

($54,525)

7,774

(14,355)

16

(2,623)

(9,315)

(9,748)

19

3,364

677

1,615

(702)

139

(190)

51

7,068

1,427

-

11,226

(6,447)

(13,022)

Other comprehensive income (loss),
net of tax

23,872

1,327

(27,377)

Total comprehensive income (loss)

($17,640)

$31,521

($81,902)

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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DEL MONTE FOODS HOLDINGS LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity
For the year ended April 30, 2017
(In thousands of US dollars)

Note
2017
At May 2, 2016

Attributable to Owners of the Company
Re-measurement of
Additional
paid-in Translation retirement Hedging
reserve
plans
reserve
capital

Capital
stock
$-

$705,000

$286

-

-

-

Total other comprehensive income

-

-

Total comprehensive income

-

$-

Total comprehensive income
Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income
Currency translation differences
Re-measurement of retirement plans
Cash flow hedges

($4,787)

($19,570)

Deficit

Total

($70,869)

$610,060

(41,512)

-

-

(22)
(22)

12,646
12,646

11,248
11,248

-

(22)

12,646

11,248

(41,512)

$705,000

$264

$7,859

($8,322)

($112,381)

-

Noncontrolling
Interests Total equity
$552

$610,612

(41,512)

-

(41,512)

(22)
12,646
11,248
23,872

-

(22)
12,646
11,248
23,872

(17,640)

-

(17,640)

794
$1,346

794
$593,766

Transactions with owners of the
Company
Contributions and distributions
Share-based expense
At April 30, 2017

28

$592,420

(Continued on next page)
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DEL MONTE FOODS HOLDINGS LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity (continued)
For the year ended May 1, 2016
(In thousands of US dollars)

Note

Attributable to Owners of the Company
Re-measureAdditional
ment of
paid-in Translation retirement Hedging
capital
reserve
plans
reserve

Capital
stock

Deficit

Total

Noncontrolling
Interests Total equity

2016
At May 4, 2015

$-

$705,000

$270

($12,561)

($13,107)

($101,063)

$578,539

$-

$578,539

-

-

-

-

-

30,194

30,194

-

30,194

Currency translation differences

-

-

16

-

-

-

16

-

16

Re-measurement of retirement plans

-

-

-

7,774

-

-

7,774

-

7,774

Cash flow hedges

-

-

-

-

(6,463)

-

(6,463)

-

(6,463)

Total other comprehensive income

-

-

16

7,774

(6,463)

-

1,327

-

1,327

Total comprehensive income

-

-

16

7,774

(6,463)

30,194

31,521

-

31,521

$-

$705,000

$286

($4,787)

($19,570)

($70,869)

$610,060

552
$552

552
$610,612

Total comprehensive income
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income

Transactions with owners of the
Company
Contributions and distributions
Share-based expense
At May 1, 2016

28

(Continued on next page)
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DEL MONTE FOODS HOLDINGS LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity (continued)
For the year ended May 3, 2015
(In thousands of US dollars)

Re-measureAdditional
ment of
paid-in Translation retirement Hedging
capital
reserve
plans
reserve

Capital
stock

Deficit

Total equity

2015
At April 28, 2014

$-

$705,000

$2,893

$1,794

($2,708)

($46,538)

$660,441

Total comprehensive income
Loss for the year

-

-

-

-

-

(54,525)

(54,525)

Currency translation differences

-

-

(2,623)

-

-

-

(2,623)

Re-measurement of retirement plans

-

-

-

(14,355)

-

-

(14,355)

Cash flow hedges

-

-

-

-

(10,399)

-

(10,399)

Total other comprehensive loss

-

-

(2,623)

(14,355)

(10,399)

-

(27,377)

Total comprehensive loss

-

-

(2,623)

(14,355)

(10,399)

(54,525)

(81,902)

$270

($12,561)

($13,107)

($101,063)

$578,539

Other comprehensive income

At May 3, 2015

$-

$705,000

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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DEL MONTE FOODS HOLDINGS LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands of US dollars)

Note
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit (Loss)
Adjustments for:
Amortization of intangible assets
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Inventory write-downs
Share based compensation expense
Defined benefit plan amendment
Finance expense
Deferred income tax benefit
Cash flow hedges:
Commodity hedge
Currency hedge
Interest rate swaps
Bargain purchase on acquisition of Sager Creek
Deconsolidation of a subsidiary

April 30,
2017
($41,512)

Year Ended
May 1,
2016

May 3,
2015

$30,194

($54,525)

9,330
37,949
793
22,923
794
80,822
(7,852)

9,308
47,662
5,000
1,079
23,951
552
(40,716)
71,693
(3,591)

6,988
42,512
1,308
2,734
65,576
(29,282)

(1,070)
1,903
104,080

1,887
1,003
2,302
150,324

(735)
1,054
(27,142)
5,103
13,591

Changes in:
Other assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other payables
Other liabilities
Cash generated from (absorbed by) operations
Income taxes paid

5,946
(59,548)
12,088
109,951
12,835
185,352
(1,416)

(7,260)
(142,098)
27,819
(58,137)
12,850
(16,502)
(1,177)

19,498
83,098
(27,456)
94,115
7,169
190,015
(121)

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities

183,936

(17,679)

189,894

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of Sager Creek

2,109
(44,591)
-

3,719
(42,823)
-

182
(57,342)
(72,500)

(42,482)

(39,104)

(129,660)

Cash flows from financing activities
Interest paid
Proceeds from short-term borrowings
Payments of debt related costs
Payments on short-term borrowings
Payments on long-term borrowings

(74,962)
166,200
(223,642)
(7,100)

(60,992)
782,900
(1,029)
(656,458)
(7,100)

(57,288)
293,773
(379)
(305,006)
(8,875)

Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities

(139,504)

57,321

(77,775)

538
564

(17,541)
18,626

84

(521)

7
5
5

28
18
25
26

4
24

4

Net cash flows used in investing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash
Cash at beginning of year
Effect of exchange rate changes on balances held in
foreign currency

1,950
1,186
(22)

Cash at end of year

13

$3,114

$1,186

$564

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statem ents.
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Del Monte Foods Holdings Limited and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended April 30, 2017

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
These notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
These consolidated financial statements were approved and authorized for issuance by the
Executive Officers on July 13, 2017.

1.

Reporting entity
Del Monte Foods Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands on November 11, 2013. The Company is a wholly-owned subsidiary of DMPL Foods
Limited, a subsidiary of Del Monte Pacific Limited (“DMPL”). DMPL was incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands and is listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited and the
Philippine Stock Exchange.
The registered office of the Company is located at P.O. Box 957, Offshore Incorporation Centre,
Road Town, Tortola, British Virgin Islands.
These consolidated financial statements comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together
referred to as the “Group”).
The Group is one of the country’s largest producers, distributors and marketers of premium
quality, branded food products for the United States (“US”) retail market. The majority of its
products are sold nationwide in all channels serving retail markets, mass merchandisers, the
US military, certain export markets, the foodservice industry and food processors. The Group
sells products under the “Del Monte”, “Contadina”, “College Inn”, “S&W” and other brand
names, as well as private label products, to key customers. The Group is one of the largest
marketers of processed fruit, vegetables and tomatoes in the US.
The Company is separately liable under various full and unconditional guarantees of indebtedness
of Del Monte Foods Inc. (“DMFI”), including under full and unconditional guarantees of DMFI’s
Term Loan Credit Agreements and ABL Credit Agreement. DMFI and DMFI’s subsidiaries are
subject to limitations on their ability to make loans, advances, dividends and distributions to the
Company under the covenants governing DMFI’s Term Loan Credit Agreements and ABL Credit
Agreement. For a description of DMFI’s senior credit facility and senior subordinated notes, see
Note 16.

2.

Basis of preparation

2.1

Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).
The Group operates on a 52 or 53-week fiscal year ending on the Sunday closest to April 30.
Fiscal 2017 and 2016 were 52-week years and fiscal 2015 was a 53-week year.

-8-
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Del Monte Foods Holdings Limited and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended April 30, 2017

2.2

Basis of measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for
the following items, which are measured on an alternative basis at each reporting date.
Items

2.3

Measurement bases

Derivative financial instruments

Fair value

Net defined benefit (asset) liability

Fair value of plan assets less the present value
of the defined benefit obligation

Equity-settled share-based compensation

Fair value at grant date, recognized over the
vesting period

Assets held for sale

Fair value, less costs to sell

Functional and presentation currency
These consolidated financial statements are presented in United States (“US”) dollars, which is
the Group’s functional currency. All financial information presented in US dollars has been
rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated.

2.4

Use of estimates and judgments
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires
management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.
Judgements
Information about judgements made in applying accounting policies that have the most significant
effects on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements is included in the
following notes:
Note 6
Note 7
Note 33
Note 34

– Deconsolidation of Del Monte Andina C.A.
– Assessment of intangible assets with indefinite useful life
– Lease classification
– Contingencies

Estimates and underlying assumptions
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods
affected.
Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk resulting
in a material adjustment within the next financial year are included in the following notes:
Note 5

– Useful life of property, plant and equipment
-9-
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Del Monte Foods Holdings Limited and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended April 30, 2017

Note 7
Note 8
Note 10
Note 11
Note 18
Note 20
Note 26
Note 32
Note 34

2.5

– Useful life of intangible assets and impairment of intangible assets and goodwill
– Realizability of deferred tax assets
– Allowance for inventory obsolescence and net realizable value
– Impairment of trade receivables
– Measurement of employee benefit obligations
– Estimation of environmental remediation liabilities
– Measurement of income taxes
– Determination of fair values
– Provisions and contingencies

Measurement of fair value
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value is based
on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either
in the principal market for the asset or liability or in the most advantageous market for the asset
or liability. The principal or most advantageous market must be accessible to the Group.
The fair value of an asset or liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.
The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs.
Fair values are categorized into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used
in the valuation techniques as follows:
 Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the
Group can access at the measurement date.
 Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.
 Level 3: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability fall into different levels of the
fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorized in its entirety in the same
level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire
measurement.
The Group recognizes transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the
reporting period during which the change has occurred.
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Del Monte Foods Holdings Limited and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended April 30, 2017

3.

Significant accounting policies
The accounting policies set out below have been applied by the Group consistently to all periods
presented in these consolidated financial statements.

3.1

Changes in accounting policies
Adoption of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations
The Group has adopted all the new standards, amendments to standards, including any
consequential amendments to other standards, and interpretations effective for annual periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2016. The adoption of these new standards, amendments to
standards, and interpretations has no significant impact to the Group. The relevant amendments
to standards adopted by the Group starting May 2, 2016 include the following:


Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012 – 2014 Cycle. This cycle of improvements contains
amendments to four standards. The following are the amendments relevant to the Group:


Changes in method for disposal (Amendment to IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for
Sale and Discontinued Operations). IFRS 5 is amended to clarify that:


if an entity changes the method of disposal of an asset (or disposal group) – i.e.
reclassifies an asset (or disposal group) from held-for-distribution to owners to
held-for-sale (or vice versa) without any time lag – then the change in classification
is considered a continuation of the original plan of disposal and the entity continues
to apply held-for-distribution or held-for-sale accounting. At the time of the change
in method, the entity measures the carrying amount of the asset (or disposal group)
and recognizes any write-down (impairment loss) or subsequent increase in the fair
value less costs to sell/distribute of the asset (or disposal group); and



if an entity determines that an asset (or disposal group) no longer meets the criteria
to be classified as held-for-distribution, then it ceases held-for-distribution
accounting in the same way as it would cease held-for-sale accounting.

Any change in method of disposal or distribution does not, in itself, extend the period in
which a sale has to be completed.




Discount rate in a regional market sharing the same currency – e.g. the Eurozone
(Amendment to IAS 19 Employee Benefits). The amendment to IAS 19 clarifies that
high-quality corporate bonds or government bonds used in determining the discount rate
should be issued in the same currency in which the benefits are to be paid.
Consequently, the depth of the market for high-quality corporate bonds should be
assessed at the currency level and not at the country level.

Disclosure Initiative (Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements) addresses
some concerns expressed about existing presentation and disclosure requirements and to
ensure that entities are able to use judgment when applying IAS 1. The amendments clarify
that:


Information should not be obscured by aggregating or by providing immaterial
information.
- 11 -
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Del Monte Foods Holdings Limited and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended April 30, 2017



Materiality considerations apply to all parts of the financial statements, even when a
standard requires a specific disclosure.



The list of line items to be presented in the statement of financial position and statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income can be disaggregated and aggregated
as relevant and additional guidance on subtotals in these statements.



An entity’s share of OCI of equity-accounted associates and joint ventures should be
presented in aggregate as single line items based on whether or not it will subsequently
be reclassified to profit or loss.

3.2

Basis of consolidation

(i)

Business combination
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method in accordance with IFRS
3 Business Combinations as of the acquisition date, which is the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date, as the fair value
of consideration transferred; plus the amount recognized for any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree over the net amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognized
immediately in the income statement.
Costs related to the acquisition, other than those associated with the issuance of debt or equity
securities, that the Group incurs in connection with a business combination are expensed as
incurred.
If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting
period it occurs, provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete is
reported in the consolidated financial statements. During the measurement period, which is not
more than one year from acquisition date, the provisional amounts recognized are retrospectively
adjusted, and any additional assets or liabilities recognized, to reflect new information obtained
about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date. Comparative information for
prior periods are revised, as needed.
The Group acquired Sager Creek Vegetable Company’s vegetable business in March 2015 (see
Note 4).

(ii)

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed
to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are
included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the
date that control ceases.
The accounting policies of subsidiaries are aligned with the policies adopted by the Group. Losses
applicable to the non-controlling interests in a subsidiary are allocated to the non-controlling
interests even if doing so causes the non-controlling interests to have a deficit balance.
See Note 6 for the details of the Company’s subsidiaries.
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(iii)

Non-controlling interests
Non-controlling interests (NCI) that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets in the event of liquidation are measured either at
fair value or at the NCI’s proportionate share of the recognized amounts of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets, at the acquisition date. The measurement basis taken is elected on a
transaction-by-transaction basis. All other NCI are measured at acquisition-date fair value unless
another measurement is required by another standard.
Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted
for as equity transactions. NCI include increases in equity attributable to the grant of subsidiaries’
equity instruments to counterparties who are not part of the Group, in equity-settled share-based
expense transactions (see Note 28).

(iv)

Loss of control
When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognizes the assets and liabilities of the
subsidiary, and any related non-controlling interest and other components of equity. Any resulting
gain or loss is recognized in the income statement. Any interest retained in the former subsidiary
is measured at fair value when control is lost.
The Group deconsolidated Del Monte Andina C.A., its foreign subsidiary operating in Venezuela,
in February 2015 (see Note 6).

(v)

Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealized income or expenses arising from intragroup transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealized
losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealized gains, but only to the extent that there is no
evidence of impairment.

3.3

Foreign currency

(i)

Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of the
Group’s entities at the exchange rate at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated to the functional
currency at the exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is
the difference between amortized cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the year,
adjusted for effective interest and payments during the year, and the amortized cost in foreign
currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of the year.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair
value are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value
was determined. Non-monetary items in a foreign currency that are measured in terms of historical
cost are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.
Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognized in the income statement,
except for differences which are recognized in Other Comprehensive Income (OCI) arising on
the retranslation of qualifying cash flow hedges to the extent the hedge is effective.
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Foreign currency gains and losses on financial assets and financial liabilities are reported on a net
basis as either finance income or finance cost depending on whether foreign currency movements
are in a net gain or net loss position.
(ii)

Foreign operations
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments
arising on acquisition, are translated to US dollars at exchange rates at the reporting date. The
income and expenses of foreign operations are translated to US dollars using monthly average
rates.
Foreign currency differences are recognized in OCI and presented in the foreign currency
translation reserve (translation reserve) in equity. When a foreign operation is disposed of such
that control, significant influence or joint control is lost, the cumulative amount in the translation
reserve related to that foreign operation is reclassified to the consolidated income statement as
part of the gain or loss on disposal.

(iii)

Foreign operation in hyperinflationary economy
Financial statements of a foreign entity with a functional currency of a country that has a highly
inflationary economy, are restated to reflect changes in the general price level or index in that
country before translation into US Dollars.
In adjusting for hyperinflation, a general price index is applied to all non-monetary items in the
financial statements (including equity) and the resulting gain or loss, which is the gain or loss on
the entity's net monetary position, is recognized in the income statement. Monetary items in the
closing statement of financial position, which are defined as money held and items to be received
or paid in money, are not adjusted.
The Group treated Del Monte Andina C.A. as a hyperinflationary economy effective February
2014 until its deconsolidation in February 2015 (see Note 6).

3.4

Property, plant and equipment

(i)

Recognition and measurement
Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses.
Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of
self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labor, any other costs directly
attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended use, an estimate of the
costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located when
the Group has an obligation to remove the asset or restore the site, and capitalized borrowing
costs. Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is
capitalized as part of that equipment. When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major components) of
property, plant and equipment.
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The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined by
comparing the net proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of the item, and is recognized
net within other income (expenses) in the income statement. See Note 3.6 for the accounting
policy for impairment.
(ii)

Subsequent costs
The cost of replacing a component of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognized in
the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within
the component will flow to the Group, and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount
of the replaced component is derecognized. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property,
plant and equipment are recognized in the income statement as incurred.

(iii)

Depreciation
Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual value. Significant components of
individual assets are assessed and if a component has a useful life that is different from the
remainder of that asset, that component is depreciated separately.
Depreciation is recognized in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful lives of each component of an item of property, plant and equipment, unless it is included
in the carrying amount of another asset. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter
of the lease term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that the Group will obtain
ownership by the end of the lease term. Freehold land is not depreciated.
Depreciation is recognized from the date that the property, plant and equipment are installed and
are ready for use, and for internally constructed assets, from the date that the asset is completed
and ready for use.
The estimated useful lives for the current year and comparative years are as follows:
Buildings, land improvements and leasehold improvements
Machinery and equipment
Computers and software

-

5 to 50 years
5 to 20 years
3 to 7 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and
adjusted if appropriate.

3.5

Intangible assets and goodwill

(i)

Goodwill
Goodwill that arises upon the acquisition of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets and is not
amortized (See Note 3.2 and Note 7). Goodwill is assessed for impairment annually (See Note
3.6).

(ii)

Indefinite-life Intangible Assets
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized and are subject to an annual
impairment evaluation (See Note 3.6).
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(iii)

Research and development
Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or
technical knowledge and understanding, is recognized in the income statement as incurred.
Development activities involve a plan or design for the production of new or substantially
improved products and processes. Development expenditure is capitalized only if development
costs can be measured reliably, the product or process is technically and commercially feasible,
future economic benefits are probable, and the Group intends to and has sufficient resources to
complete development and to use or sell the asset. Other development expenditure is recognized
in the income statement as incurred. The Group has not incurred capitalizable research and
development expenditures during fiscal 2017, 2016 and 2015.

(iv)

Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group and have finite useful lives are measured
at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

(v)

Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only when it increases the future economic benefits
embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure on
internally generated goodwill and brands, is recognized in the income statement as incurred.

(vi)

Amortization
Amortization is calculated based on the cost of the asset. Amortization is recognized in the
consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible
assets from the date that they are available for use. The estimated useful lives are as follows:
Trademarks
Customer relationships

-

10 to 20 years
8 to 20 years

Amortization methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and
adjusted if appropriate.

3.6

Impairment of Non-financial assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax
assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of
impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. For
goodwill, and intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives, the recoverable amount is
estimated each year at the same time. An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of
an asset or its related cash-generating unit (CGU) exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.
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The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value-in-use (VIU) and its fair
value less costs of disposal. In assessing VIU, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU. For the purpose of impairment
testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group of
assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash
inflows of other assets or CGU. The Group currently has one CGU. Accordingly, for the annual
impairment test, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to this CGU.
Impairment losses are recognized in the income statement. Impairment losses recognized with
respect of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the
CGU, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU on a pro rata basis.
An impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed. With respect to other assets, impairment losses
recognized in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has
decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the
extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized.
When conducting the annual impairment test for goodwill, the Group compares the carrying
amount of the CGU containing goodwill to its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is
computed using two approaches: the VIU approach, which is the present value of expected cash
flows, discounted at a risk adjusted weighted average cost of capital; and the fair value less costs
of disposal approach, which is based on the Market Approach, which use market multiples of
companies in similar lines of business (see Note 7).
Intangible assets with indefinite lives are components of the CGU containing goodwill and the
impairment assessment is as described above.

3.7

Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value.
The Group uses a standard costing system to account for inventories. The cost of inventories is
based on the first-in, first-out principle. Cost of processed inventories comprises all costs of
purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition. The costs of conversion include raw materials, direct labor, certain freight
and warehousing cost, and indirect production and overhead costs.
A systematic allocation is made of fixed and variable production overheads that are incurred in
converting materials into finished goods. The allocation of fixed production overheads is based
on the normal capacity of the production facilities. Normal capacity is the production levels
expected to be achieved, on average for the periods or seasons under normal circumstances, taking
into account the seasonal business cycle of the Group.
Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the
estimated costs of completion and selling expenses.
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3.8

Financial instruments

(i)

The Group classifies non-derivative financial assets into the following categories: financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), held-to-maturity (HTM) financial assets, loans and
receivables and available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets. The Group classifies non-derivative
financial liabilities into the following categories: financial liabilities at FVPL and other financial
liabilities. The classification depends on the purpose for which the instruments were acquired and
whether they are quoted in an active market. Classification is determined at initial recognition
and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluated at every reporting date. The Group has no
financial assets and liabilities at FVPL, HTM financial assets, and AFS financial assets as of April
30, 2017 and May 1, 2016.

(ii)

Non-derivative financial assets
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables comprise trade and other receivables. The Group initially recognizes loans
and receivables on the date that they are originated. All other financial assets are recognized
initially on the transaction date, which is the date that the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. Loans and receivables are recognized initially at fair value plus any
directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses. The
Group derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a
transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are
transferred, or it neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership
and does not retain control over the transferred asset. Any interest in transferred financial assets
that is created or retained by the Group is recognized as a separate asset or liability. Financial
assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position
when the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis
or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
Loans and receivables are assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is objective
evidence that it is impaired. Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired may include
default or delinquency by a debtor, restructuring of an amount due to the Group on terms that the
Group would not consider otherwise, indications that a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy,
adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers or issuers in the Group, or economic
conditions that correlate with defaults.
The Group considers evidence of impairment for loans and receivables at both a specific asset
and collective level. All individually significant loans and receivables are assessed for specific
impairment. All individually significant receivables found not to be specifically impaired are then
collectively assessed for any impairment that has been incurred but not yet identified. Loans and
receivables that are not individually significant are collectively assessed for impairment by
grouping together loans and receivables with similar risk characteristics.
In assessing collective impairment, the Group uses historical trends of the probability of default,
timing of recoveries and the amount of loss incurred, adjusted for management’s judgment as to
whether current economic and credit conditions are such that the actual losses are likely to be
greater or less than suggested by historical trends.
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An impairment loss is calculated as the difference between its carrying amount and the present
value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate.
Losses are recognized in the income statement and reflected in an allowance account against loans
and receivables. When the Group considers that there are no realistic prospects of recovery of the
asset, the relevant amounts are written off. If the amount of impairment loss subsequently
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
was recognized, then the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed through the income
statement.
Cash and Cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise bank balances.
(iii)

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Non-derivative financial liabilities comprise bank loans, and trade and other payables. Financial
liabilities are recognized initially on the date that the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. The Group derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual
obligations are discharged, cancelled or expired. Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the
net amount presented in the statement of financial position when the Group has a legal right to
offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously. Such financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value plus any
directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial liabilities
are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

(iv)

Derivative financial instruments, including hedge accounting
The Group uses derivative financial instruments for the purpose of managing risks associated with
interest rates, currencies, transportation and certain commodities (see Note 19). The Group does
not trade or use instruments with the objective of earning financial gains on fluctuations in the
derivative instrument alone, nor does it use instruments where there are no underlying exposures.
All derivative instruments are recorded in the statement of financial position at fair value. The
accounting for changes in the fair value (i.e., gains or losses) of a derivative instrument depends
on whether the instrument has been designated and qualifies as part of a hedging relationship and
further, on the type of hedging relationship. For those derivative instruments that are designated
and qualify as hedging instruments, the Group designates the hedging instrument as a fair value
hedge, cash flow hedge, or a hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation based upon the
exposure being hedged.
On initial designation of the derivative as the hedging instrument, the Group formally documents
the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item, including the risk
management objectives and strategy in undertaking the hedge transaction and the hedged risk,
together with the methods that will be used to assess the effectiveness of the hedging relationship.
The Group makes an assessment, both at the inception of the hedge relationship as well as on an
ongoing basis, of whether the hedging instruments are expected to be ‘highly effective’ in
offsetting the changes in the fair value or cash flows of the respective hedged items attributable
to the hedged risk, and whether the actual results of each hedge are within a range of 80 - 125%.
For a cash flow hedge of a forecast transaction, the transaction should be highly probable to occur
and should present an exposure to variations in cash flows that could ultimately affect reported
profit or loss.
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Derivatives are recognized initially at fair value; any directly attributable transaction costs are
recognized in the income statement as they are incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition,
derivatives are measured at fair value. Changes therein are recognized in OCI, generally for
derivatives designated as effective hedges, or the income statement, for other derivatives.
Cash flow hedges
When a derivative is designated as a cash flow hedging instrument, the effective portion of
changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognized in OCI and accumulated in the hedging
reserve. Any ineffective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognized
immediately in the income statement.
The amount accumulated in equity is retained in OCI and reclassified to the consolidated income
statement in the same period or periods during which the hedged item affects the consolidated
income statement.
If the hedging instrument no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, expires or is sold,
terminated or exercised, or the designation is revoked, then hedge accounting is discontinued
prospectively. If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, then the amount
accumulated in equity is reclassified to the income statement.
(v)

Equity
Common stock
Common stock is classified as equity. Holders of these shares are entitled to dividends when
declared and are entitled to one vote per share at general meetings of the Company. Incremental
costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares and share options are recognized as a
deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.
Additional paid-in capital
Additional paid-in capital represents the excess of consideration received over the par value of
common stock.
Retained earnings (Deficit)
Retained earnings (Deficit) represents the cumulative balance of periodic net income or loss,
dividend distributions, effect of changes in accounting policy and other capital adjustments. No
dividends have been declared by the Group during fiscal 2017, 2016 and 2015.

3.9

Prepaid expenses
Prepaid expenses are expenses not yet incurred but already paid by the Group. Prepaid expenses
are initially recorded as assets and measured at the amount paid. Subsequently, these are
recognized in the consolidated income statement as they are consumed in operations or expire
with the passage of time.
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3.10

Assets held for sale
Assets held for sale are classified as held-for-sale if it is highly probable that they will be
recovered primarily through sale rather than through continuing use. Such assets are measured at
the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell. Impairment losses on initial
classification as held-for-sale and subsequent gains and losses on re-measurement are recognized
in the income statement. Once classified as held-for-sale, property, plant and equipment are no
longer depreciated. If it is no longer highly probable that an asset will be recovered primarily
through sale, the asset ceases to be classified as held-for-sale and is measured at the lower of its
carrying amount before the asset was classified as held-for-sale adjusted for any depreciation that
would have been recognized had the asset not been reclassified as held for sale and its recoverable
amount at the date of the subsequent reclassification. The required adjustment to the carrying
amount of an asset that ceases to be classified as held-for-sale is included in the consolidated
income statement. The Group classified part of Sager Creek’s assets as held-for-sale as of May 1,
2016 (see Note 14). The Group did not have any assets held for sale as of April 30, 2017.

3.11

Leased assets
Leases in terms of which the Group does not assume substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership are classified as operating leases. Operating leases are not recognized in the Group’s
statement of financial position. Rent expense is being recognized on a straight-line basis over the
life of the lease. The difference between rent expense recognized and rental payments, as
stipulated in the lease, is reflected as deferred rent or prepaid rent in the statements of financial
position. Lease incentives received are recognized as an integral part of the total lease expenses,
over the term of the lease. Leases where substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are
assumed are finance leases. The Group does not have finance leases as of April 30, 2017 and May
1, 2016.

3.12

Employee benefits

(i)

Defined contribution plans
A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed
contributions into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further
amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognized as an
employee benefit expense in the income statement in the periods during which services are
rendered by employees.

(ii)

Defined benefit plans
Defined benefit plans are post-employment benefit plans other than defined contribution plans.
The Group has a defined benefit qualified retirement plan requiring contributions to be made to
separately administered funds. The Group also has various other non-qualified retirement plans
and supplemental retirement plans for executives, designed to provide benefits in excess of those
otherwise permitted under the Group’s qualified retirement plans. These plans are unfunded and
comply with Internal Revenue Service (IRS) rules for non-qualified plans (see Note 18).
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The Group’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated separately for each
plan by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in the current and
prior periods, discounting that amount and deducting the fair value of any plan assets. The Group
determines the net interest expense (income) on the net defined benefit liability (asset) for the
period by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the
beginning of the annual period to the net defined benefit liability (asset), taking into account any
changes in the net defined benefit liability (asset) during the period as a result of contributions
and benefit payments.
The calculation of defined benefit obligations is performed annually by a qualified actuary using
the projected unit credit method. When the calculation results in a benefit to the Group, the
recognized asset is limited to the present value of economic benefits available in the form of any
future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan. To calculate the
present value of economic benefits, consideration is given to any applicable minimum funding
requirements that apply to any plan in the Group. An economic benefit is available to the Group
if it is realizable during the life of the plan, or on settlement of the plan liabilities.
Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability comprise actuarial gains and losses, the return
on plan assets (excluding interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding interest).
The Group recognizes them immediately in other comprehensive income and all expenses related
to defined benefit plans in staff cost in the consolidated income statement.
When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting change in benefit
that relates to past service or the gain or loss on curtailment is recognized immediately in the
consolidated income statement.
When the plan amendment or curtailment occurs, the Group recognizes gains and losses on the
settlement of a defined benefit plan when the settlement occurs. The gain or loss on settlement is
the difference between the present value of the defined benefit obligation being settled as
determined on the date of settlement and the settlement price, including any plan assets transferred
and any payments made directly by the Group in connection with the settlement. In fiscal 2016,
a plan amendment was implemented for certain medical and dental benefits (see Note 18).
(iii)

Multi-employer plans
The Group participates in several multi-employer pension plans, which provide defined benefits
to certain union employees. The Group accounts for its proportionate share of the defined benefit
obligation, plan assets and cost associated with the plan in the same way as a defined contribution
plans, as sufficient information is not available to apply defined benefit accounting principles.

(iv)

Other long-term employee benefits
The Group’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits other than post-employment
benefit plans is the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service
in the current and prior periods. That benefit is discounted to determine its present value, and the
fair value of any related assets is deducted. The calculation is performed using the projected unit
credit method. Any actuarial gains and losses are recognized in the income statement in the period
in which they arise. Other long-term employee benefits include the Group’s long-term executive
cash incentive awards (see Note 28).
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(v)

Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognized as an expense when the Group is demonstrably committed,
without realistic possibility of withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to either terminate
employment before the normal retirement date, or to provide termination benefits as a result of
an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Termination benefits are recognized as an
expense once the Group has announced the plan to affected employees.

(vi)

Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed
as the related service is provided. A liability is recognized for the amount expected to be paid
under short-term cash bonus if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this
amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated
reliably.

(vii)

Equity-settled Share-based payment transactions
The Group grants share options for the shares of a subsidiary to employees of the Group. The fair
value of incentives granted is recognized as an employee benefit expense with a corresponding
increase in equity. The fair value, measured at grant date, is recognized over the vesting period
during which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the options. At each reporting
date, the Group revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected to become
exercisable. It recognizes the impact of the revision of original estimates in employee benefit
expense and as a corresponding adjustment to equity over the remaining vesting period.

3.13

Provisions
A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by
discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of
the discount is recognized as finance cost.

(i)

Environment remediation liabilities
In accordance with the Group’s environment policy and applicable legal requirements, a provision
for environmental remediation obligations and the related expense, is recognized when such
losses are probable and the amounts of such losses can be estimated reliably. Accruals for
estimated losses for environmental remediation obligations are recognized no later than the
completion of the remedial feasibility study. These accruals are adjusted as further information
develops or circumstances change.
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(ii)

Retained insurance liabilities
The Group accrues for retained insurance risks associated with the deductible portion of any
potential liabilities that might arise out of claims of employees, customers or other third parties
for personal injury or property damage occurring in the course of the Group’s operations. A thirdparty actuary is engaged to assist the Group in estimating the ultimate cost of certain retained
insurance risks. Additionally, the Group’s estimate of retained insurance liabilities is subject to
change as new events or circumstances develop which might materially impact the ultimate cost
to settle these losses.

(iii)

Coupon redemption
The Group accrues coupon redemption costs in the period in which the coupons are offered based
on estimates of redemption rates that are developed by management. Management’s estimates are
based on recommendations from independent coupon redemption clearing-houses as well as
historical information. Should actual redemption rates vary from amounts estimated, adjustments
to liabilities may be required. Coupon redemption costs are recorded as a reduction to gross sales.

(iv)

Trade promotions
Accruals for trade promotions are recorded primarily at the time a product is sold to the customer
based on expected levels of performance. Settlement of these liabilities typically occurs in
subsequent periods primarily through an off-invoice allowance at the time of sale or through an
authorized process for deductions taken by a customer from amounts otherwise due to the Group.
Deductions are offset against related trade promotion accruals. Evaluations of the trade promotion
liability are performed monthly and adjustments are made where appropriate to reflect changes in
the Company’s estimates. Trade spending is recorded as a reduction to gross sales.

3.14

Revenue recognition
Sales of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods in the course of ordinary activities is recognized when the
significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the customer, recovery of the
consideration is probable, the associated costs and possible return of goods can be estimated
reliably, there is no continuing management involvement with the goods, and the amount of
revenue can be measured reliably. The timing of transfers of risks and rewards varies depending
on the individual terms of the contract of sale but usually occurs when the customer receives the
product.
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of customer
returns, consumer promotion costs relating to coupon redemption, trade promotions, performance
allowances, customer pick-up allowances and discounts. If it is probable that discounts will be
granted and the amount can be measured reliably, then the discount is recognized as a reduction
of revenue as the sales are recognized. The Group’s customers generally do not have the right to
return products unless damaged or defective.
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3.15

Cost and expense recognition
Costs and expenses are recognized upon receipt of goods, utilization of services or at the date
they are incurred. Cost of sales is recognized when the related goods are sold.
Expenses are also recognized in the consolidated income statement when a decrease in future
economic benefit related to a decrease in an asset or an increase in a liability that can be measured
reliably has arisen. Expenses are recognized in the consolidated statements of income on the basis
of a direct association between costs incurred and the earning of specific items of income; on the
basis of systematic and rational allocation procedures when economic benefits are expected to
arise over several accounting periods and the association can only be broadly or indirectly
determined; or immediately when an expenditure produces no future economic benefits or when,
and to the extent that future economic benefits do not qualify, or cease to qualify, for recognition
in the consolidated statements of financial position as an asset.

3.16

Net finance expense
Finance expense comprises interest expense on borrowings. All borrowing costs are recognized
in the consolidated income statement using the effective interest method, except to the extent that
they are capitalized as being directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of
an asset which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to be prepared for its intended use or
sale.

3.17

Income Tax
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax is recognized
in the consolidated income statement except to the extent that it relates to a business combination,
or items recognized directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of
previous years.
Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.
Deferred tax is not recognized for:




temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is
not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss;
temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures to the extent
that the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it
is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and
taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.

The measurement of deferred taxes reflects the tax consequences that would follow the manner
in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to
be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the reporting date.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax liabilities and assets and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the
same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously.
A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary
differences, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which they can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced
to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized.
In determining the amount of current and deferred tax, the Group takes into account the impact
of uncertain tax positions and whether additional taxes and interest may be due. The Group
believes that its accruals for tax liabilities are adequate for all open tax years based on its
assessment of many factors, including interpretations of tax law and prior experience. This
assessment relies on estimates and assumptions and may involve a series of judgments about
future events. New information may become available that causes the Group to change its
judgment regarding the adequacy of existing tax liabilities; such changes to tax liabilities will
impact tax expense in the period that such a determination is made.

3.18

New standards and interpretations issued but not yet adopted
A number of new standards and amendments to standards are effective for annual periods
beginning after May 2, 2016. The Group has not applied the following new or amended standards
in preparing these financial statements and plans to adopt them on the respective effective dates.
Unless otherwise stated, none of these are expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.
Effective January 1, 2017


Disclosure initiative (Amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows). The amendments
address financial statements users’ requests for improved disclosures about an entity’s
net debt relevant to understanding an entity’s cash flows. The amendments require entities
to provide disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in
liabilities arising from financing activities, including both changes arising from cash
flows and non-cash changes – e.g. by providing a reconciliation between the opening and
closing balances in the statement of financial position for liabilities arising from financing
activities. If the required disclosure is provided in combination with disclosures of
changes in other assets and liabilities, it shall disclose the changes in liabilities arising
from financing activities separately from changes in those other assets and liabilities.
The amendments are to be applied for annual periods beginning on or after January 1,
2017. Earlier application is permitted. Comparative information is not required for
preceding periods.



Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealized Losses (Amendments to IAS 12 Income
Taxes). The amendments clarify that:
o the existence of a deductible temporary difference depends solely on a
comparison of the carrying amount of an asset and its tax base at the end of the
reporting period, and is not affected by possible future changes in the carrying
amount or expected manner of recovery of the asset;
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o the calculation of future taxable profit in evaluating whether sufficient taxable
profit will be available in future periods excludes tax deductions resulting from
the reversal of the deductible temporary differences;
o the estimate of probable future taxable profit may include the recovery of some
of an entity's assets for more than their carrying amount if there is sufficient
evidence that it is probable that the entity will achieve this; and
o an entity assesses a deductible temporary difference related to unrealized losses
in combination with all of its other deductible temporary differences, unless a tax
law restricts the utilization of losses to deduction against income of a specific
type.
The amendments are to be applied retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or
after January 1, 2017. Early adoption is permitted.


Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2014 – 2016 Cycle. This cycle of improvements contains
amendments to three standards. The following are the relevant amendments effective for
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017:


Clarification of the scope of the standard (Amendments to IFRS 12 Disclosure of
Interests in Other Entities). The amendments clarify that the disclosure requirements
for interests in other entities also apply to interests that are classified as held for sale
or distribution. The amendments are applied retrospectively, with early application
permitted.

Effective January 1, 2018


IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (2014). IFRS 9 (2014) replaces IAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and supersedes the previously published
versions of IFRS 9 that introduced new classifications and measurement requirements (in
2009 and 2010) and a new hedge accounting model (in 2013). IFRS 9 includes revised
guidance on the classification and measurement of financial assets, including a new
expected credit loss model for calculating impairment, guidance on own credit risk on
financial liabilities measured at fair value and supplements the new general hedge
accounting requirements published in 2013. IFRS 9 incorporates new hedge accounting
requirements that represent a major overhaul of hedge accounting and introduces
significant improvements by aligning the accounting more closely with risk management.
The new standard is to be applied retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2018, with early adoption permitted. The Group is assessing the potential
impact on its financial statements resulting from the application of IFRS 9.
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IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers replaces IAS 11 Construction
Contracts, IAS 18 Revenue, IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes, IFRIC 15
Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate, IFRIC 18 Transfer of Assets from
Customers and SIC-31 Revenue – Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services.
The new standard introduces a new revenue recognition model for contracts with
customers which specifies that revenue should be recognized when (or as) a company
transfers control of goods or services to a customer at the amount to which the company
expects to be entitled. Depending on whether certain criteria are met, revenue is
recognized over time, in a manner that best reflects the company’s performance, or at a
point in time, when control of the goods or services is transferred to the customer. The
standard does not apply to insurance contracts, financial instruments or lease contracts,
which fall in the scope of other IFRSs. It also does not apply if two companies in the
same line of business exchange non-monetary assets to facilitate sales to other parties.
Furthermore, if a contract with a customer is partly in the scope of another IFRS, then the
guidance on separation and measurement contained in the other IFRS takes precedence.
The new standard is to be applied retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2018, with early adoption permitted. The Group is assessing the potential
impact on its financial statements resulting from the application of IFRS 15.



IFRIC-22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration. The amendments
clarifies that the transaction date to be used for translation for foreign currency
transactions involving an advance payment or receipt is the date on which the entity
initially recognizes the prepayment or deferred income arising from the advance
consideration. For transactions involving multiple payments or receipts, each payment or
receipt gives rise to a separate transaction date. The interpretation applies when an entity
pays or receives consideration in a foreign currency and recognizes a non-monetary asset
or liability before recognizing the related item.
The interpretation is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018,
with early adoption permitted, and can be applied retrospectively or prospectively.

Effective January 1, 2019


IFRS 16 Leases supersedes IAS 17 Leases and the related interpretations. The new
standard introduces a single lease accounting model for lessees under which all major
leases are recognized in the Statement of Financial Position, removing the lease
classification test. Lease accounting for lessors essentially remains unchanged except for
a number of details including the application of the new lease definition, new sale-andleaseback guidance, new sub-lease guidance and new disclosure requirements. Practical
expedients and targeted reliefs were introduced including an optional lessee exemption
for short-term leases (leases with a term of 12 months or less) and low-value items, as
well as the permission of portfolio-level accounting instead of applying the requirements
to individual leases. New estimates and judgmental thresholds that affect the
identification, classification and measurement of lease transactions, as well as
requirements to reassess certain key estimates and judgments at each reporting date were
introduced.
The new standard is to be applied retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2019. Early application is permitted for entities that apply IFRS 15 at or before
the date of initial application of IFRS 16. The Group is assessing the potential impact on
its financial statements resulting from the application of IFRS 16.
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4.

Acquisition of business

(i)

Acquisition of Sager Creek
The Group, through its wholly-owned U.S. subsidiary, Vegetable Acquisition Corp., acquired
Sager Creek Vegetable Company’s (“Sager Creek”) vegetable business effective March 10, 2015.
Sager Creek was a producer of specialty vegetables for the foodservice and retail markets
headquartered in Siloam Springs, Arkansas. Sager Creek had manufacturing operations located
in North Carolina, and Arkansas. Sager Creek’s well-known brands include Veg-All, Freshlike,
Popeye, Princella and Allens’. The cash price paid for the Sager Creek assets was $72.5 million.
Such price was established through an auction process and negotiations between the parties. The
acquisition cost was financed through DMFI revolving credit facility.
The acquisition of Sager Creek’s business provided the Group access to new customers and new
retail product offerings and the opportunity to expand on Sager Creek’s foodservice business
platform, while driving significant operating synergies in the Group’s network of vegetable
production facilities.
During the period from the date of acquisition on March 10, 2015 to May 3, 2015, Sager Creek
contributed revenue of $29.5 million and an operating loss of $0.2 million to the Group’s results.
If the acquisition had occurred on April 28, 2014, management estimates that the contribution to
the consolidated revenue for the annual period ended May 3, 2015 would have been $251.6
million, and operating loss would have been $23.3 million.

(a)

Consideration transferred
The following table summarizes the acquisition-date fair value of each major class of
consideration transferred.

Original purchase price
Working capital adjustments
Total cash consideration transferred

Amount
$75,000
(2,500)
$72,500

The cash consideration was reduced by a post-closing working capital adjustment settled in
January 2016 for $2.5 million.
(b)

Acquisition-related costs
The Group incurred acquisition-related costs in respect of the acquisition of Sager Creek
amounting to $0.5 million and $0.8 million for the years ended May 1, 2016 and May 3, 2015,
respectively. These costs include external legal fees and due diligence costs, and have been
included in “Transaction fees” in the consolidated income statements.

- 29 -

*SGVFS025682*

Del Monte Foods Holdings Limited and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended April 30, 2017

(c)

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
The transaction was accounted for as a business acquisition under the purchase method of
accounting. The following table summarizes the recognized amounts of assets acquired and
liabilities assumed at the date of the acquisition:

Fair values
recognized on
acquisition
(provisional)
May 3, 2015
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Other non-current assets
Inventories
Assets held for sale
Other current assets
Trade and other payables
Other non-current liabilities
Total identifiable net assets

$39,511
25,400
2,117
53,589
8,113
4,412
(31,113)
(461)
$101,568

Adjustments
during
window
period

Fair values
recognized on
acquisition
(final)
May 1, 2016

$(1,926)
-

$39,511
25,400
2,117
53,589
6,187
4,412
(31,113)
(461)

($1,926)

$99,642

Of the $25.4 million of acquired intangible assets, $13.5 million was assigned to customer
relationships and $11.9 million was assigned to trademarks and trade names.
Measurement of fair values
The valuation techniques used for measuring the fair value of material assets acquired were as
follows: Property, plant and equipment: Market comparison technique and cost technique: The
valuation model considered quoted market prices for similar items when available, and
depreciated replacement cost as appropriate. Intangible assets: Relief-from-royalty method: The
method considers the discounted estimated royalty payments that are expected to be avoided as
result of the patents or trademarks being owned. Multi-Period Excess Earnings Method: The
method considers the present value of the incremental after-tax cash flows specific to the
intangible asset after deducting contributory asset charges. Inventories: Market comparison
technique: The fair value was determined based on the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and sale, and a reasonable profit margin
based on the effort required to complete and sell the inventories.
Retrospective adjustment
The Group retrospectively adjusted the provisional amounts recognized at the acquisition date to
reflect new information about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that
affected the measurement of the amounts initially recognized or would have resulted in the
recognition of other assets or liabilities with a corresponding adjustment to bargain purchase gain.
The Group also revised comparative information for prior periods presented in the financial
statements as a result of changes made to provisional amounts recognized as of May 3, 2015.
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(d)

Bargain purchase
Bargain purchase gain arising from the acquisition has been recognized in the fiscal year ended
May 3, 2015 as follows:

Total consideration transferred
Fair value of identifiable net assets
Bargain purchase gain

Amount
$72,500
(99,642)
($27,142)

This acquisition resulted in a bargain purchase transaction because the fair value of assets
acquired exceeded the total of the fair value of consideration paid. The bargain purchase gain
was recognized directly in the income statement. The Group believes the bargain purchase arose
mainly because the transaction occurred at a more rapid pace than what would be considered a
normal transaction timeframe for similar purchase transactions. The prior owners had a short time
period to close the transaction so that the new buyer handles the grower and other commitments
for the upcoming grower season and it was important to the acquiree to get these commitments
signed. The process was subject to a limited competitive bidding process, due to the need to close
quickly.
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5.

Property, plant and equipment

Cost/Valuation
At May 1, 2016
Additions
Disposals
Reclassifications and
other adjustments
At April 30, 2017
At May 3, 2015
Additions
Disposals
Reclassifications
At May 1, 2016

Buildings, land
improvements
and leasehold
improvements

Machinery and
equipment

$173,002
(208)

$313,640
(3,637)

$28,254
46,678
-

$50,925
-

$565,821
46,678
(3,845)

6,689
$179,483

51,580
$361,583

(62,626)
$12,306

(1,286)
$49,639

(5,643)
$603,011

$164,285
650
(727)
8,794
$173,002

$283,080
3,115
(3,873)
31,318
$313,640

$20,385
42,196
(34,327)
$28,254

$56,710
(5,785)
$50,925

$524,460
45,961
(4,600)
$565,821

Construction
-in-progress

Freehold land

Total
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Accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses
At May 1, 2016
Depreciation for the year
Disposals
Reclassifications and
other adjustments
At April 30, 2017
At May 3, 2015
Depreciation for the year
Impairment loss for the year
Disposals
At May 1, 2016

Buildings, land
improvements
and leasehold
improvements
$19,640
8,809
(49)

Machinery and
equipment
$79,747
37,540
(1,432)

Construction
-in-progress
$-

Freehold land
$390
-

Total
$99,777
46,349
(1,481)

(2,211)
$26,189

(3,734)
$112,121

$-

(390)
$-

(6,335)
$138,310

8,834
9,148
1,991
(333)
$19,640

40,646
38,514
2,619
(2,032)
$79,747

$-

390
$390

49,480
47,662
5,000
(2,365)
$99,777

Carrying amounts
At April 30, 2017

$153,294

$249,462

$12,306

$49,639

$464,701

At May 1, 2016

$153,362

$233,893

$28,254

$50,535

$466,044
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As of April 30, 2017 and May 1, 2016, the Group has no significant legal or constructive
obligation to dismantle any of its leasehold improvements as the lease contracts provide, among
other things, that the improvements introduced on the leased assets shall become the property of
the lessor upon termination of the lease.
As of April 30, 2017 and May 1, 2016, the Group has amounts included in accrued liabilities for
Property, Plant and Equipment acquired of $2.1 million and $0.7 million, respectively.
The table below summarizes the acquisition date valuation of freehold land acquired through
business combination:

Located in
United States of America
(Sager Creek)

Date of
valuation

Valuation
$14,446

March 10, 2015

Plant closure
In April 2016, the Group announced its intention to close Sager Creek’s plant in Turkey, North
Carolina. The Group closed the plant’s canning facilities during fiscal 2016 and the remainder of
the production lines were redeployed to other production locations as of April 30, 2017. In
connection with the plant closure, the Group recognized impairment losses on related property,
plant and equipment amounting to $5.0 million in fiscal 2016.
Under the termination plan, approximately 300 employees were affected, about two-thirds of
which were terminated by the end of fiscal 2016, and the remainder terminated in fiscal 2017.
The Group recognized provisions for employee severance benefits amounting to $1.4 million,
with $1.2 million outstanding as of May 1, 2016. The employee severance benefits are presented
under “Employee benefits”. Related equipment removal costs amounting to $2.3 million, together
with other related costs, were recognized in fiscal 2016 and included under “Trade and other
payables”. These expenditures were incurred in 2017 and there are no outstanding provisions as
of April 30, 2017. See Note 10 for related inventory write-downs and Note 20 for additional
environmental remediation liabilities incurred in connection with the plant closure.
As of April 30, 2017, the Group sold the Turkey, North Carolina plant and recognized a gain of
$0.7 million.
Estimating Useful Lives of Property, Plant and Equipment
The Group estimates the useful lives of its property, plant and equipment based on the period over
which the assets are expected to be available for use. The estimated useful lives of property, plant
and equipment are reviewed periodically and are updated if expectations differ from previous
estimates due to physical wear and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence and legal or other
limits on the use of the assets.
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In addition, the estimation of the useful lives of property, plant and equipment is based on
collective assessment of industry practice, internal technical evaluation and experiences with
similar assets. It is possible, however, that future financial performance could be materially
affected by changes in estimates brought about by changes in factors mentioned above. The
amount and timing of recorded expenses for any period would be affected by changes in these
factors and circumstances. A reduction in the estimated useful lives of property, plant and
equipment would increase recorded depreciation expense and decrease non-current assets.
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6.

Subsidiaries
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows:
Effective equity
held by the Group

Name of subsidiary

Principal activities

Place of
incorporation April 30,
and business
2017
%

Held by the Company
Del M onte Foods
Investment holding
Holdings Inc (“DM FHI”)

May 1,
2016
%

State of
Delaware,
USA

100.00

100.00

M anufacturing, processing and distributing
food, beverages and other related products

State of
Delaware,
USA

100.00

100.00

Distributor of non-Del M onte products

State of
Delaware,
USA

100.00

100.00

Del M onte Andina C.A.

M anufacturing, processing and distributing
food, beverages and other related products

Venezuela

-

-

Del M onte Colombiana

Distributing food, beverages and other related
products

Colombia

81.97

81.97

M exico

100.00

100.00

Peru

100.00

100.00

Ecuador

100.00

100.00

Held by DMFHI
Del M onte Foods Inc.
(“DM FI”)
Held by DMFI
Sager Creek Foods, Inc.
(formerly Vegetable
Acquisition Corp.)

S.A.

(a)

Industrias Citricolas de
M ontemorelos, S.A. de
C.V. (ICM OSA)

M anufacturing, processing and distributing
food, beverages and other related products

Del M onte Peru S.A.C.

Distributing food, beverages and other related
products

Del M onte Ecuador DM E Distributing food, beverages and other related
C.A.
products
Hi-Continental Corp.

Distributor of non-Del M onte products

State of
California,
USA

100.00

100.00

College Inn Foods

Distributor of College Inn brand products

State of
California,
USA

100.00

100.00

Contadina Foods, Inc.

Distributor of Contadina brand products

State of
Delaware,
USA

100.00

100.00

S&W Fine Foods, Inc

Distributor of S&W Fine Foods, Inc.

State of
Delaware,
USA

100.00

100.00

Argentina

-

-

Held by Del Monte
Andina C.A.
Del M onte Argentina S.A. Inactive
(a) The non-controlling interest in Del Monte Colombiana S.A. is deemed immaterial.
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In fiscal 2015, the Group deconsolidated its subsidiary, Del Monte Andina C.A., an entity which
has operations in Venezuela. Venezuela is a hyperinflationary economy. The Venezuelan
exchange control regulations have resulted in an other-than-temporary lack of exchangeability
between the Venezuelan Bolivar and US dollar. This has restricted the Venezuelan entity’s ability
to pay dividends and obligations denominated in US dollars. The exchange regulations, combined
with other recent Venezuelan regulations, have constrained the Venezuelan entity’s ability to
maintain normal production. Due to the Group’s inability to effectively control the operations of
the entity, the Group deconsolidated the subsidiary with effect from February 2015. The equity
interest in this entity is determined to be the cost of investment of the entity at the date of
deconsolidation. The investment is carried at cost less impairment.
The deconsolidation of the Venezuelan entity resulted in a loss from deconsolidation of $5.2
million, which was recognized as “other expenses” in the income statements in fiscal 2015.
Prior to deconsolidation, the Group treated Venezuela as a highly inflationary economy based
upon the three-year cumulative inflation rate, effective as of February 18, 2014, the date of the
completion of the acquisition of the Consumer Food Business. The functional currency for the
Group’s Venezuelan subsidiary is the Venezuelan bolivar. Management has restated the
subsidiaries financial statements, whereby financial information recorded in the hyperinflationary
currency is adjusted using the current cost approach by applying the Venezuelan National
Consumer Price Index to calculate the inflation adjustment factor of 1.10 and expressed this in
the measuring unit (the hyperinflationary currency) current at the end of the reporting period. The
group used the official SICAD I rate to translate these financial statements for purposes of
consolidation. The financial statements for the South American entity is based on a historical cost
basis.
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7.

Intangible assets and goodwill
Indefinite life
trademarks

Amortizable
trademarks

Customer
relationships

$204,592

$394,000

$35,900

$120,500

$754,992

Accumulated
amortization
At May 1, 2016
Amortization
At April 30, 2017

$$-

$$-

$3,955
2,292
$6,247

$13,586
7,038
$20,624

$17,541
9,330
$26,871

At May 3, 2015
Amortization
At May 1, 2016

$-

$-

1,698
2,257
$3,955

6,535
7,051
$13,586

8,233
9,308
$17,541

At April 30, 2017

$204,592

$394,000

$29,653

$99,876

$728,121

At May 1, 2016

$204,592

$394,000

$31,945

$106,914

$737,451

Goodwill
Cost
At May 1, 2016 and
April 30, 2017

Total

Carrying amounts

Goodwill – Acquisition of Consumer Food Business
Goodwill is attributable to the Group, a single CGU, and originated from the October 9, 2013
purchase agreement between DMPL and DMFI with Del Monte Corporation, now known as “Big
Heart Pet Brands” (“the Seller”), to acquire all of the shares of certain subsidiaries of the Seller
and acquire certain assets and assume certain liabilities related to the Seller’s consumer food
business (“Consumer Food Business”). The transaction was completed on February 18, 2014, the
acquisition date.
Part of the acquisition-related costs amounting to $2.2 million were recognized during the fiscal
year ended May 3, 2015. These costs include external legal fees and due diligence costs, and have
been included in ‘Transaction fees’ in the consolidated income statement.
Impairment Test
In 2017 and 2016, the recoverable amount of the CGU was based on fair value less costs of
disposal, being greater than the VIU:

Value-in-use
Fair value less costs of disposal

April 30,
2017
$1,870,000
1,990,000

May 1,
2016
$1,950,000
2,110,000

Recoverable amount

$1,990,000

$2,110,000
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As of valuation date in January 2017 and 2016, the estimated recoverable amount of the CGU
exceeded its carrying amount by approximately $177.65 million, and $275.8 million,
respectively. Therefore, the CGU is not impaired.
Value-in-use
The VIU is the present value of expected future cash flows, discounted at a risk-adjusted weighted
average cost of capital.
The key assumptions used in the estimation of the recoverable amount using the VIU approach
are set out below. The values assigned to the key assumptions represent management’s
assessment of future trends in the relevant industries and were based on historical data from both
external and internal sources.

Pre-tax discount rate
Terminal value growth rate
Long-term margin

2017
%
11.1
2.0
13.3

2016
%
11.5
2.0
11.4

The discount rate was a pre-tax measure estimated based on the historical industry average
weighted-average cost of capital, with a possible range of debt leveraging of 35% (May 1, 2016:
35%) at a risk free interest rate of 3.5% (May 1, 2016: 4%).
The cash flow projections included specific estimates for five years and a terminal growth rate
thereafter. The terminal growth rate was determined based on management’s estimate of the longterm compound annual EBITDA growth rate consistent with the assumption that a market
participant would make.
EBITDA was estimated taking into account past experience adjusted as follows:


Revenue growth was projected taking into account the average growth levels experienced
over the past five years and estimated sales volume and price growth for the next five years.
It was assumed that sales price would increase in line with forecasted inflation over the next
five years. The amounts are probability-weighted.

Fair value less costs of disposal
Fair value less costs of disposal is determined using the Market Approach, which makes use of
prices and other relevant information generated by market transactions involving similar
companies.
The Market Comparable Method was used in applying the Market Approach, making use of
market price data of companies engaged in the same or similar line of business as that of the
Group. Stocks of these companies are traded in a free and open market or in private transactions.
The process involves the identification of comparable companies, calculation and application of
market multiples representing ratios of invested capital or equity to financial measures of the
Group, application of an appropriate control premium to the companies being compared, and
adjustment for any non-operating assets or liabilities or working capital excess/deficit to arrive at
an indication of Business Enterprise Value.
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The approach involves the use of both observable inputs and unobservable inputs (e.g. projected
revenue and EBITDA, and adjusted market multiples). Accordingly, the fair value measurement
is categorized under level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
Comparable companies were selected from comprehensive lists and directories of public
companies in the packaged foods industry. Potential comparable companies were analyzed based
on various factors, including, but not limited to, industry similarity, financial risk, company size,
geographic diversification, profitability, growth characteristics, financial data availability, and
active trading volume.
Calculation of the market multiples considered Market Value of Invested Capital (MVIC), the
sum of the market values of a comparable company’s common stock, interest-bearing debt and
preferred stock, assuming that the book value of the comparable companies’ debt approximated
the market value of the debt. Adjustments to the market multiples were made to reflect the
difference between the estimated size of the Group and each comparable company, improving
comparability based on relative size difference prospects. Relative size adjustment factors were
calculated based on a regression of a Price / Earnings ratio using size as an independent variable.
The market multiples selected and applied to the Group’s financial results in the analysis were as
follows:

MVIC/Revenue – Last twelve months
MVIC/Revenue – Projected
MVIC/EBITDA – Last twelve months
MVIC/EBITDA – Projected

2017
Selected Assigned
multiple
weight
1.0x
50%
1.1x
0%
13.6x
50%
11.9x
0%

2016
Selected Assigned
multiple
weight
1.1x
25%
0.9x
25%
15.7x
25%
11.9x
25%

Indefinite life trademarks
The indefinite life trademarks arising from the acquisition of DMFI relate to those of DMFI for
the use of the “Del Monte” trademark in the United States and South America market, and the
“College Inn” trademark in the United States, Australia, Canada and Mexico. As of April 30,
2017 and May 1, 2016, the carrying amounts of the trademarks with indefinite useful lives are
$394.0 million. Management has designated these assets as having indefinite useful lives as the
Group has exclusive access to the use of these trademarks on a royalty free basis and based on all
relevant factors, there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which the assets are expected to
generate cash inflows for the entity. The carrying amounts for indefinite life trademarks were
included in the annual impairment assessment performed for the CGU as described above.
Source of estimation uncertainty
Goodwill and the indefinite life trademarks are assessed for impairment annually. The impairment
assessment requires an estimation of the VIU and fair value less costs of disposal of the cashgenerating unit to which the goodwill and indefinite life trademarks are allocated.
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Estimating the VIU requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows
from the CGU and apply an appropriate discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows. Actual cash flows will differ from these estimates as a result of differences
between assumptions used and actual operations.
Estimating fair value less costs of disposal requires the Group to calculate market multiples,
derived from market price data of comparable companies, to be applied to the Group’s financial
measures. The estimated fair value would change depending on the assumptions used, such as the
annual revenue growth rate, EBITDA margin, and adjusted market multiples.
Sensitivity analysis
Management has identified that a reasonably possible change in the market multiples could cause
the carrying amount of the CGU to exceed the recoverable amount. The following table show the
amount to which the market multiples would need to change independently for the estimated
recoverable amount to be equal to the carrying amount.

MVIC/Revenue – Last twelve months
MVIC/Revenue – Projected
MVIC/EBITDA – Last twelve months
MVIC/EBITDA – Projected

Breakeven Multiple
2017
2016
0.9x
0.9x
0.8x
12.1x
15.7x
8.5x

Amortizable trademarks

America S&W trademark
America Contadina trademark
Sager Creek trademarks

Net carrying
amount
2017
2016
$1,363
$1,563
18,497
19,598
10,784
9,793
$29,653
$31,945

Remaining
amortization
2017
2016
6.8
7.8
16.8
17.8
10.9
9.9

S&W and Contadina trademarks
The amortizable trademarks relate to the exclusive right to use the “S&W” trademark in the United
States, Canada, Mexico and certain countries in Central and South America and the “Contadina”
trademark in the United States, Canada, Mexico South Africa and certain countries in Asia
Pacific, Central America, Europe, Middle East and South America market.
Management has included these trademarks in the CGU impairment assessment and concluded
that no impairment exists at the reporting date.
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Sager Creek trademarks
The Sager Creek trademarks were acquired when the Group acquired the Sager Creek business
in March 2015. Sager Creek’s well-known brands include Veg-All, Freshlike, Popeye, Princella
and Allens’. Management has included these trademarks in the CGU impairment assessment. The
Group did not recognize any impairment for these trademarks as of April 30, 2017 and May 1,
2016.
Customer relationships
Customer relationships relate to the network of customers where DMFI and Sager Creek have
established relationships with the customers through contracts.

Net carrying amount
Remaining amortization period (years)

2017
$99,876
5.9 – 16.8

2016
$106,914
6.9 – 17.8

Management has included the customer relationships in the CGU impairment assessment and
concluded no impairment exists at the reporting date.
Estimating useful lives of amortizable trademarks and customer relationships
The Group estimates the useful lives of its amortizable trademarks and customer relationships
based on the period over which the assets are expected to be available for use. The estimated
useful lives of the trademarks and customer relationships are reviewed periodically and are
updated if expectations differ from previous estimates due to legal or other limits on the use of
the assets. A reduction in the estimated useful lives of amortizable trademarks and customer
relationships would increase recorded amortization expense and decrease non-current assets.
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8.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

Provisions
Employee benefits
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets and goodwill
Effective portion of changes in
fair value of cash flow hedges
Tax loss carry-forwards
Inventories
Other
Deferred tax assets/(liabilities)
Set off of tax
Deferred tax assets/(liabilities)

Assets
May 1,
April 30,
2017
2016
$2,350
$3,012
34,940
40,930
5,809
138,398
449
9,584
191,530
(99,311)
$92,219

13,403
103,695
2,187
8,524
171,751
(74,669)
$97,082

Liabilities
May 1,
April 30,
2017
2016
$$(35,513)
(30,967)
(64,890)
(44,794)
(100,403)
99,311
($1,092)

(75,761)
74,669
($1,092)

Movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities of the Group during the year are as follows:

Recognized
in profit or
loss
(Note 26)

Recognized in
other
comprehensive
income

$3,012
40,930

($662)
(168)

$(5,822)

$2,350
34,940

13,403
103,695
2,187
8,524
171,751

(701)
34,703
(1,738)
1,060
32,494

(6,893)
(12,715)

5,809
138,398
449
9,584
191,530

(30,967)
(44,794)
(75,761)
$95,990

(4,546)
(20,096)
(24,642)
$7,852

($12,715)

(35,513)
(64,890)
(100,403)
$91,127

At May
1, 2016

At April
30, 2017

At April 30, 2017
Deferred tax assets
Provisions
Employee benefits
Effective portion of changes in
fair value of cash flow hedges
Tax loss carry-forwards
Inventories
Other
Deferred tax liabilities
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets and goodwill
Net deferred tax
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Recognized
in profit or
loss
(Note 26)

Recognized in
other
comprehensive
income

$1,493
28,893

$1,519
4,758

$7,279

$3,012
40,930

7,324
78,618
4,823
7,190
128,341

1,989
25,077
(2,636)
1,334
32,041

4,090
11,369

13,403
103,695
2,187
8,524
171,751

(26,917)
(20,394)
(47,311)
$81,030

(4,050)
(24,400)
(28,450)
$3,591

$11,369

(30,967)
(44,794)
(75,761)
$95,990

At May
4, 2015

At May
1, 2016

May 1, 2016
Deferred tax assets
Provisions
Employee benefits
Effective portion of changes in
fair value of cash flow hedges
Tax loss carry-forwards
Inventories
Other
Deferred tax liabilities
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets and goodwill
Net deferred tax
Unrecognized deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets have not been recognized with respect to the following items.

Deductible temporary differences
Tax losses and tax credits

April 30,
2017
$10,966
462
$11,428

The tax losses will expire in 2019 and 2020. The tax credits will expire between 2024 and 2027.
Deferred tax assets have not been recognized with respect to these items because it is not
probable that future taxable profits will be available to utilize the benefits.
Sources of estimation uncertainty
As of April 30, 2017, deferred tax assets amounting to $138.4 million (May 1, 2016: $103.7
million) have been recognized in respect of the tax loss carry forwards because management
assessed that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which DMFI can
utilize these benefits. Management expects profitable growth coming from revenue strategies and
cost efficiencies in the future. To the extent that profitable growth does not materialize in the
future periods, deferred tax assets of $191.5 million may not be realized. The net operating loss
carry forward may be utilized up to a 20 year period.
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9.

Other noncurrent assets
April 30,
2017
$4,279
1,278
$5,557

Excess insurance
Other

May 1,
2016
$4,500
2,890
$7,390

Excess insurance relates mainly to reimbursements from insurers to cover certain workers’
compensation claims liabilities (see Note 17).

10.

Inventories

Finished goods, at net realizable value
Semi-finished goods, at cost
Raw materials and packaging supplies, at
net realizable value

April 30,
2017
$511,774
193,738

May 1,
2016
$427,693
214,314

113,737
$819,249

128,381
$770,388

The cost of inventories recognized as expense during the year was $1.4 billion (May 1, 2016: $1.5
billion; May 3, 2015: $1.4 billion). This includes a total of $22.9 million in respect of direct writeoffs and write-downs of inventories to net realizable value (May 1, 2016: $23.9 million; May 3,
2015: $2.7 million).
Inventories are stated net of an allowance for inventory obsolescence. Movements in the
allowance for inventory obsolescence during the year are as follows:

Note
At beginning of the year
Allowance for the year
Write-off against allowance
At end of the year

23

April 30,
2017
$5,275
9,101
(6,006)
$8,370

May 1,
2016
$3,100
4,490
(2,315)
$5,275

In connection with the closure of Sager Creek’s plant in Turkey, North Carolina, the Group has
directly written down related inventories to their net realizable values resulting in a loss of $5.5
million in fiscal 2016 (see Note 5).
The allowance for inventory obsolescence recognized during the year is included in cost of sales.
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Source of estimation uncertainty
The Group recognizes an allowance for inventory obsolescence when inventory items are
specifically identified as obsolete, have remained unsold for a certain period, or have otherwise
experienced a decline in selling prices. Obsolescence is based on the physical and internal
condition of inventory items. Obsolescence is also established when inventory items are no
longer marketable. Obsolete goods, when identified are charged to the income statement and are
written off. In addition to an allowance for specifically identified obsolete inventory, an
estimation is made on a group basis based on the age of the inventory items. The Group believes
such estimates represent a fair charge of the level of inventory obsolescence in a given year. The
Group reviews the condition of its inventory on a regular basis. The assessment of the condition
of the inventory either increases or decreases the expenses or total inventory.
Estimates of net realizable value are based on the most reliable evidence available at the time the
estimates are made, and reflect management’s assessment of the amount the inventories are
expected to be realized at. These estimates take into consideration fluctuations of price or cost
directly relating to events occurring after the reporting date, to the extent that such events confirm
conditions existing at the reporting date. The Group regularly reviews product movement,
changes in customer demand and introduction of new products, to identify inventories which
should be written down to its net realizable value. The write-down of inventories is reviewed
periodically. An increase in write-down of inventories would increase the recorded cost of sales
and decrease current assets.

11.

Trade and other receivables
April 30,
2017
$83,421
(130)
83,291
4,382
$87,673

Trade receivables
Less: allowance for impairment
Trade receivables, net
Nontrade receivables
Trade and other receivables

May 1,
2016
$95,469
(97)
95,372
13,021
$108,393

Movements in allowance for impairment during the year are as follows:

Note
At beginning of the year/period
Allowance recognized
Write-off against allowance
At end of the year/period

23

April 30,
2017
$97
117
(84)
$130

May 1,
2016
$50
47
$97
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The aging of trade and other receivables at the reporting date is:

Not past due
Past due 0 - 60 days
Past due 61 - 90 days
Past due 91 - 120 days
More than 120 days

April 30,
2017
Impairment
Gross
losses
$65,305
($130)
14,898
1,743
1,163
4,694
$87,803
($130)

May 1,
2016
Impairment
Gross
losses
$66,776
$27,357
3,367
2,450
8,540
(97)
$108,490
($97)

Source of estimation uncertainty
The Group maintains an allowance for impairment of accounts receivables at a level considered
adequate to provide for potential uncollectible receivables. The level of this allowance is
evaluated by the Group on the basis of factors that affect the collectability of the accounts. These
factors include, but are not limited to, the length of the Group’s relationship with debtors, their
payment behavior and known market factors. The Group reviews the age and status of
receivables, and identifies accounts that are to be provided with allowance on a continuous basis.
The amount and timing of recorded expenses for any period would differ if the Group made
different judgment or utilized different estimates. An increase in the Group’s allowance for
impairment would increase the Group’s recorded operating expenses and decrease current assets.
The recorded impairment loss falls within the Group’s historical experience in the collection of
accounts receivables. Therefore, management believes that there is no significant additional
credit risk beyond what has been adjusted for.

12.

Prepaid and other current assets

Prepayments
Advances to suppliers
Derivative assets

13.

April 30,
2017
$15,509
1,923
2,685
$20,117

May 1,
2016
$14,880
3,507
1,473
$19,860

April 30,
2017
$3,114

May 1,
2016
$1,186

Cash

Cash in bank
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14.

Assets held for sale
In March 2015, management committed to a plan to sell certain assets of Sager Creek.
Accordingly, these assets were presented as assets held for sale. Efforts to sell the assets have
started and a sale was expected within twelve months from the date of reclassification. As of year
end, these assets comprised the following:

Property, plant and equipment

April 30,
2017
$-

May 1,
2016
$1,950

In fiscal 2017, several of the assets were sold resulting in a gain of $0.3 million recognized in
“Other income (expenses) – net” in the Consolidated Income Statement. As of April 30, 2017,
the remaining unsold assets amounting to $0.7 million have been reclassified out of assets held
for sale and back to property, plant and equipment.

15.

Reserves

Translation reserve
Remeasurement of retirement plan
Hedging reserve

April 30,
2017
$264
7,859
(8,322)
($199)

May 1,
2016
$286
(4,787)
(19,570)
($24,071)

The translation reserve comprises foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations.
The remeasurement of retirement plan relates to the actuarial gains and losses for the defined
benefit plans and the return on plan assets, excluding amounts included in net interest on the net
defined benefit liability (asset).
The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value
of hedging instruments used in cash flow hedges pending subsequent recognition in the
consolidated income statement.
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16.

Loans and borrowings
April 30,
2017
Current liabilities
Secured bank loans
Non-current liabilities
Secured bank loans

May 1,
2016

$169,114

$226,523

922,294
$1,091,408

922,554
$1,149,077

Terms and debt repayment schedule
Terms and conditions of outstanding loans and borrowings are as follows:
April 30,
2017
Year of
Currency maturity
Secured bank loan under
ABL Credit Agreement
Secured First lien term loan
Secured Second lien term
loan

USD

2016-2017

USD

2016-2021

USD

2021

Face
value
$168,000
686,925

May 1,
2016

Carrying
amount
$165,800
673,820

260,000
251,788
$1,114,925 $1,091,408

Face
value
$225,442
694,025

Carrying
amount
$222,249
676,943

260,000
249,885
$1,179,467 $1,149,077

Secured Term Loan Credit Agreements
The Group is a party to a First Lien term loan credit agreement and a Second Lien term loan credit
agreement (the “Term Loan Credit Agreements”) with the lenders party thereto, Citibank, N.A.,
as administrative agent and collateral agent, and the other agents named therein, that provided for
a $710.0 million First Lien Term Loan and a $260.0 million Second Lien Term Loan with terms
of seven years and seven years plus six months, respectively.
Interest Rates. Loans under the First and Second Lien Term Loans bear interest at a rate equal to
an applicable margin, plus, at the Group’s option, either (i) a LIBOR rate (with a floor of 1.00%)
or (ii) a base rate (with a floor of 2.00%) equal to the highest of (a) the federal funds rate plus
0.50%, (b) CitiBank, N.A.’s “prime commercial rate” and (c) the one-month LIBOR Quoted Rate
plus 1.00%. As of April 30, 2017, the interest rate for First Lien Term Loans is 4.31% (May 1,
2016: 4.25%) and the interest rate for Second Lien Term Loans is 8.31% (May 1, 2016: 8.25%).
Principal Payments. The First Lien Term Loan generally requires quarterly scheduled principal
payments of 0.25% of the original principal per quarter from April 30, 2014 to January 31, 2021.
The balance is due in full on the maturity date of February 18, 2021. Scheduled principal
payments with respect to the First Lien Term Loan are subject to reduction following any
mandatory or voluntary prepayments on terms and conditions set forth in the First Lien Term
Loan Credit Agreement.
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The Second Lien Term Loan is due in full at its maturity date of August 18, 2021.
The Term Loan Credit Agreements also require the Group to prepay outstanding loans under the
First Lien Term Loan and the Second Lien Term Loan, subject to certain exceptions, with, among
other things:


50% (which percentage will be reduced to 25% if the leverage ratio is 4.0x or less and to 0%
if the leverage ratio is 3.0x or less) of the annual excess cash flow, as defined in the First
Lien Term Loan Credit Agreement;



100% of the net cash proceeds of certain casualty events and nonordinary course asset sales
or other dispositions of property for a purchase price above $2.0 million, in each case,
subject to the Group’s right to reinvest the proceeds; and



100% of the net cash proceeds of any incurrence of debt, other than proceeds from debt
permitted under the First Lien Term Loan Credit Agreement.

Ability to Incur Additional Indebtedness. The Group has the right to request an additional $100
million plus an additional amount of secured indebtedness under the First Lien Term Loan and
the Second Lien Term Loan. Lenders under this facility are under no obligation to provide any
such additional loans, and any such borrowings will be subject to customary conditions precedent,
including satisfaction of a prescribed leverage ratio, subject to the identification of willing lenders
and other customary conditions precedent.
ABL Credit Agreement
The Group is a party to a credit agreement (the “ABL Credit Agreement”) with Citibank, N.A.,
as administrative agent, and the other lenders and agents parties thereto, as amended, that provides
for senior secured financing of up to $442.6 million (with all related loan documents, and as
amended from time to time, the ABL Facility) with a term of five years.
Interest Rates. Borrowings under the ABL Credit Agreement bear interest at an initial interest
rate equal to an applicable margin, plus, at the Group’s option, either (i) a LIBOR rate, or (ii) a
base rate equal to the highest of (a) the federal funds rate plus 0.50%, (b) Citibank, N.A.’s “prime
commercial rate” and (c) the one-month LIBOR rate plus 1.00%. The applicable margin with
respect to LIBOR borrowings is 2.25% at April 30, 2017 (and may decrease to 1.75% depending
on average excess availability) (May 1, 2016: 2.0%) and with respect to base rate borrowings is
1.25% at April 30, 2017 (and may decrease to 0.75% depending on average excess availability)
(May 1, 2016: 1.0%).
Commitment Fees. In addition to paying interest on outstanding principal under the ABL Credit
Agreement, the Group is required to pay a commitment fee that was initially 0.375% per annum
in respect of the unutilized commitments thereunder. The commitment fee rate from time to time
is 0.375% or 0.25% depending on the amount of unused commitments under the ABL Credit
Agreement for the prior fiscal quarter. The Group must also pay customary letter of credit fees
between 2.25% to 1.75% based on average excess availability, and fronting fees equal to 0.125%
of the face amount for each letter of credit issued.
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Availability under the ABL Credit Agreement. Availability under the ABL Credit Agreement is
subject to a borrowing base. The borrowing base, determined at the time of calculation, is an
amount equal to: (a) 85% of eligible accounts receivable and (b) the lesser of (1) 75% of the net
book value of eligible inventory and (2) 85% of the net orderly liquidation value of eligible
inventory, of the Group at such time, less customary reserves. The ABL Credit Agreement will
terminate, and the commitments thereunder will mature, on February 18, 2019. As of April 30,
2017, there were $168.0 million (May 1, 2016: $225.4 million) of loans outstanding under the
ABL Credit Agreement, the amount of letters of credit issued under the ABL Credit Agreement
was $14.0 million (May 1, 2016: $11.4 million) and the Group’s net availability under the ABL
Credit Agreement was $260.5 million (May 1, 2016: $201.8 million). The weighted average
interest rate on the ABL Credit Agreement was approximately 3.39% on April 30, 2017 (May 1,
2016: 3.15%). The ABL Credit Agreement includes a sub-limit for letters of credit and for
borrowings on same-day notice, referred to as “swingline loans.”
Ability to Incur Additional Indebtedness. The commitments under the ABL Facility may be
increased, subject only to the consent of the new or existing lenders providing such increases,
such that the aggregate principal amount of commitments does not exceed $450 million. The
lenders under this facility are under no obligation to provide any such additional commitments,
and any increase in commitments will be subject to customary conditions precedent.
Notwithstanding any such increase in the facility size, the Group’s ability to borrow under the
facility will remain limited at all times by the borrowing base (to the extent the borrowing base is
less than the commitments).
Guarantee of Obligations under the Term Loan Credit Agreements and the ABL Credit Agreement
All obligations of the Group under the Term Loan Credit Agreements and the ABL Credit
Agreement are unconditionally guaranteed by the Company and by substantially all existing and
future, direct and indirect, wholly owned material restricted domestic subsidiaries of the Group,
subject to certain exceptions.
Security Interests
Indebtedness under the First Lien Term Loan is generally secured by (i) a first priority pledge of
all of the equity interests of the Group, (ii) a second priority lien on all ABL Priority Collateral
of the Group and (iii) a first priority lien on substantially all other properties and assets of the
Group. The Second Lien Term Loan is generally secured by (i) a second priority pledge of all of
the equity interests of the Group, (ii) a third priority lien on all ABL Priority Collateral of the
Group and (iii) a second priority lien on substantially all other properties and assets of the Group.
The ABL Credit Agreement is generally secured by a first priority lien on the Group’s inventories
and accounts receivable and by a third priority lien on substantially all other assets.
All of the Group’s inventory and trade receivables secure the various borrowings.
Restrictive and Financial Covenants
The Term Loan Credit Agreements and the ABL Credit Agreement contain restrictive covenants
that limit the Group’s ability and the ability of its subsidiaries to take certain actions.
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Term Loan Credit Agreement and ABL Credit Agreement Restrictive Covenants. The restrictive
covenants in the Term Loan Credit Agreement and the ABL Credit Agreement include covenants
limiting the Group’s ability, and the ability of the Group’s restricted subsidiaries, to incur
additional indebtedness, create liens, engage in mergers or consolidations, sell or transfer assets,
pay dividends and distributions or repurchase the Group’s capital stock, make investments, loans
or advances, prepay certain indebtedness, engage in certain transactions with affiliates, amend
agreements governing certain subordinated indebtedness adverse to the lenders, and change the
Group’s lines of business.
Financial Maintenance Covenants. The Term Loan Credit Agreements and ABL Credit
Agreement generally do not require that the Group comply with financial maintenance covenants.
The ABL Credit Agreement, however, contains a financial covenant that applies if availability
under the ABL Credit Agreement ($260.5 million at April 30, 2017; $201.8 million at May 1,
2016) falls below a certain level. As of April 30, 2017, the financial covenant was not applicable.
Effect of Restrictive and Financial Covenants. The restrictive and financial covenants in the Term
Loan Credit Agreements and the ABL Credit Agreement may adversely affect the Group’s ability
to finance its future operations or capital needs or engage in other business activities that may be
in its interest, such as acquisitions.
The Group is compliant with its loan covenants as of April 30, 2017 and May 1, 2016.

17.

Other non-current liabilities

Workers’ compensation
Deferred operating lease liabilities from business
combination
Accrued lease liabilities
Other payables

Note
34

April 30,
2017
$23,410

May 1,
2016
$30,969

3,818
4,614
988
$32,830

5,173
2,439
477
$39,058
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18.

Employee benefits

Post-retirement medical benefits plan obligation
Net defined benefit liability – Qualified retirement plan
Executive retirement plan
Cash incentive award
Short-term employee benefits
Other plans and benefits
Total employee benefit liability
Current
Non-current

April 30,
2017
$39,017
37,934
5,423
3,708
16,557
7,114
$109,753

May 1,
2016
$41,908
41,434
9,758
1,773
19,717
7,732
$122,322

$22,154
87,599
$109,753

$33,979
88,343
$122,322

The Group contributes to the following post-employment defined benefit plans:
The DMFI Plan
DMFI sponsors a qualified defined benefit pension plan (the “DMFI Plan”) and several unfunded
defined benefit post-retirement plans providing certain medical, dental, and life insurance benefits
to eligible retired, salaried, non-union hourly and union employees. The DMFI Plan comprises of
two parts:
The first part is a cash balance plan (“Part B”), which provides benefits for eligible salaried
employees and provides that a participant’s benefit derives from the accumulation of monthly
compensation and interest credits. Compensation credits are calculated based upon the
participant’s eligible compensation and age each month. Interest credits are calculated each
month by applying an interest factor to the previous month’s ending balance. Participants may
elect to receive their benefit in the form of an annuity or a lump sum. Part B of the plan was frozen
to new Participants effective December 31, 2016, which the active participation of certain
participants was grandfathered subject to meeting participation requirements.
The second part is an arrangement which provides for grandfathered and suspended hourly
participants a traditional pension benefit based upon service, final average compensation and age
at termination. This plan was frozen since December 31, 1995, which the active participation of
certain participants was grandfathered and the active participation of other participants was
suspended.
DMFI currently meets and plans to continue to meet the minimum funding levels required under
local legislation, which imposes certain consequences on DMFI’s defined benefit plan if it does
not meet the minimum funding levels. DMFI has not made any contributions during the year.
DMFI does not expect to make contributions to the plan in 2018.
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Movement in net defined benefit (asset)/liability
The following table shows a reconciliation from the opening balances to the closing balances for
net defined benefit liability (asset) and components for the Post-retirement medical benefits and
Qualified retirement plans:

Balance at beginning of year
Included in profit or loss
Current service cost
Past service cost
Plan administration cost
Interest cost/ (income)

Included in OCI
Remeasurements loss/(gain)
- Actuarial loss/(gain) arising
from:
- financial assumptions
- demographic assumptions
- experience adjustment
- Return on plan assets
excluding interest income

Others
Benefits paid
Balance at end of year

Defined benefit
obligation
April 30,
May 1,
2017
2016

Fair value of
plan assets
April 30,
May 1,
2017
2016

$399,165

($315,823) ($359,799)

$470,888

7,403
15,968
23,371

7,479
(40,716)
18,694
(14,543)

2,847
(5,753)
(4,729)

(3,879)
(6,183)
(5,032)

(7,635)

(15,094)

(33,332)

(42,086)

$381,569

$399,165

691
(12,713)
(12,022)

Net defined benefit
liability/(asset)
April 30,
May 1,
2017
2016
$111,089

7,403
691
3,255
11,349

7,479
(40,716)
4,589
(28,648)

-

2,847
(5,753)
(4,729)

(3,879)
(6,183)
(5,032)

(8,321)
(8,321)

17,359
17,359

(8,321)
(15,956)

17,359
2,265

31,548

40,722

(1,784)

(1,364)

-

(14,105)
(14,105)

$83,342

($304,618) ($315,823)

$76,951

$83,342

Represented by:

Net defined benefit
liability/(asset)
May 1,
April 30,
2017
2016
Post-retirement medical benefits plan
Qualified retirement plan

$39,017
37,934
$76,951

$41,908
41,434
$83,342

During fiscal 2016, a change to the post-retirement benefits plan of certain non-union employees
were made where current retiree medical and dental benefits were replaced for contributions to a
health reimbursement arrangement (HRA) account. As a result of the plan amendment, the
Group’s defined benefit obligation decreased by $40.7 million. A corresponding reduction against
past service cost was recognized in the consolidated income statement during fiscal 2016.
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During fiscal 2015, the actuarial assumptions used in the pension valuation of the arrangements
for a number of employees in the United States were adjusted to reflect longer lifespans of
Americans. As a result of the change in these assumptions, the Group’s defined benefit obligation
increased by $24.2 million. A corresponding remeasurement in retirement reserve was recognized
in other comprehensive income during fiscal 2015.
Plan assets
Plan assets comprise:

Interest bearing cash
Common collective trust funds
- Fixed income
- Equity fund
Mutual funds
- Equity funds
Debt Securities
- Corporate
- Government
- Others
Other investments
Fair value of plan assets

April 30,
2017
$4,681

May 1,
2016
$3,576

75,555
113,164

81,229
115,634

9,143

8,926

38,731
42,128
5,958
15,258
$304,618

39,309
44,815
6,388
15,946
$315,823

The Board of Directors reviews the level of funding required for the retirement fund. Such a
review includes the asset-liability matching (“ALM”) strategy and investment risk management
policy. The Group’s ALM objective is to match maturities of the plan assets to the retirement
benefit obligation as they fall due. The Group monitors how the duration and expected yield of
the investments match the expected cash outflows arising from the retirement benefit obligation.
DMFI’s investment objectives are to ensure that the assets of its qualified defined benefit plan
are invested to provide an optimal rate of investment return on the total investment portfolio,
consistent with the assumption of a reasonable risk level, and to ensure that pension funds are
available to meet the plan’s benefit obligations as they become due. DMFI believes that a welldiversified investment portfolio, including both equity and fixed income components, will result
in the highest attainable investment return with an acceptable level of overall risk. DMFI’s
investment policies and procedures are designed to ensure that the plan’s investments are in
compliance with the Employee Retirement Income Security Act (“ERISA”).
Actuarial valuation
The funded obligations and plan assets are measured and valued with the advice of qualified
actuary who carries out a full valuation annually. The last valuation of these obligations and plan
was performed in April 2017 wherein the results of these valuations form the basis of the fair
value of the funded obligations and plan assets as of April 30, 2017.
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The principal actuarial assumptions used for accounting purposes expressed as weighted average
were:

Discount rate (per annum)
Future salary increases (per annum)
Current health care cost trend rate
Ultimate health care cost trend rate

April 30,
2017

May 1,
2016

4.15% - 4.25%

4.10% - 4.35%

3.00% - 4.00%

3.00% - 4.00%

7.30% /7.50%

7.60%/7.90%

4.00%

4.00%

Since the defined benefit plans and other benefits liabilities are measured on a discounted basis,
the discount rate is a significant assumption. The discount rate was determined based on an
analysis of interest rates for high-quality, long-term corporate debt at each measurement date. In
order to appropriately match the bond maturities with expected future cash payments, the Group
utilised differing bond portfolios to estimate the discount rates for the defined benefits pension
plans and for the postretirement benefits. The discount rate used to determine the defined benefit
plans and for the postretirement benefits projected benefit obligation as of the balance sheet date
is the rate in effect at the measurement date. The same rate is also used to determine the defined
benefit pension plans and postretirement benefits for the following fiscal year. The long-term rate
of return for defined benefits pension plans’ assets is based on the Group’s historical experience;
the defined benefits pension plans’ investment guidelines and the Group’s expectations for
long-term rates of return. The defined benefits pension plans’ investment guidelines are
established based upon an evaluation of market conditions, tolerance for risk and cash
requirements for benefit payments.
Assumptions regarding future mortality have been based on published statistics and mortality
tables.
The weighted average duration of DMFI’s defined benefit retirement obligation for each year are
as follows.

Duration (years)
May 1,
April 30,
2017
2016
Qualified retirement plan
Post-retirement benefits plan
Executive retirement plans

9.9
12.4
5.6 - 11.7

9.8
12.3
7.3 - 9.6
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The projected future benefit payments for the DMFI plan are as follows:

Normal
Retirement
Less than one year
More than one year to five years
More than five years

$27,069
107,674
123,721

Other than
Normal
Retirement
$2,242
9,698
12,366

Total
$29,311
117,372
136,087

The weighted-average asset allocation of the Group’s pension plan assets and weighted-average
target allocation as of the measurement date from date of incorporation to April 30, 2017 is as
follows:

Equity securities
Debt securities
Other
Total

April 30,
2017
$122,307
162,372
19,939
$304,618

Target
Allocation
Range
40%
53%
7%
100%

The plan exposes the Group to market risk.
The Board of Directors approves the percentage of asset to be allocated for fixed income
instruments and equities. The retirement plan has set maximum exposure limits for each type of
permissible investments in marketable securities and deposit instruments. The Board of Directors
may, from time to time, in the exercise of its reasonable discretion and taking into account existing
investment opportunities, review and revise such allocation and limits.
Source of estimation uncertainty
Pension expense and pension assets/liabilities are determined using certain actuarial estimates
and assumptions relating to the discount rate used in valuing the subsidiary’s defined benefit
obligations and future experiences such as the rate of return on plan assets, future salary increases,
retirement date or age, mortality and turnover rate of covered employees. These estimates and
assumptions directly influence the amount of the pension assets/liabilities and expense recognized
in the financial statements.
Sensitivity analysis
The calculation of the defined benefit obligation is sensitive to the assumptions set out above.
The following table summarises how the defined benefit obligation at the end of reporting period
would have increased/(decreased) as a result of a change in the respective assumptions by the
respective percentages below.
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Defined benefit obligation

2017
0.50%
increase

0.50%
decrease

2016
0.50%
increase

0.50%
decrease

Discount rate
($15,217)
$16,578
($16,802)
$18,411
Future salary increases
$1,522
$(1,482)
$1,610
($1,569)
The above sensitivities are based on the average duration of the benefit obligation determined at
the date of the last full actuarial valuation at April 2017 and are applied to adjust the defined
benefit obligation at the end of the report period for the assumptions concerned. Although the
analysis does not take account of the full distribution of cash flows expected under the plan, it
does provide an approximation to the sensitivity of the assumption shown.
Sensitivity analysis
Post-retirement benefit obligation

2017

2016

Health care cost trend rates

1.00%
increase
$3,994

1.00%
decrease
($3,284)

1.00%
increase
$4,278

1.00%
decrease
($3,525)

Discount rate

0.50%
increase
($2,223)

0.50%
decrease
$2,471

0.50%
increase
($2,359)

0.50%
decrease
$2,622

Accumulated Postretirement Benefit Obligation
The Accumulated Postretirement Benefit Obligation is computed in accordance with IAS 19
Employee Benefits. This quantity is the actuarial present value of all benefits attributed under the
projected unit credit method to service rendered prior to a particular date. Prior to an employee's
full eligibility date, the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation as of a particular date for
an employee is the portion of the expected postretirement benefit obligation attributed to that
employee's service rendered to that date; on and after the full eligibility date, the accumulated and
expected postretirement benefit obligations for an employee are the same.
Source of estimation uncertainty
Accumulated postretirement benefit obligation is determined using certain actuarial estimates and
assumptions relating to the annual rate(s) of change in the cost of health care benefits currently
provided by the postretirement benefit plans due to factors other than changes in the composition
of the plan population by age and dependency status, for each year from the measurement date
until the end of the period in which benefits are expected to be paid. These estimates and
assumptions directly influence the amount of the pension assets/liabilities and expense recognized
in the financial statements.
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Multi-employer plans
The Group participates in several multi-employer pension plans, which provide defined benefits
to covered union employees. Contributions rates to the multi-employer plans are provided in the
collective bargaining agreements for the covered union employees. The contribution rates are
expressed in terms of specific amounts to be contributed based on hours worked by covered union
employees. The Group made contributions of $7.1 million, $6.7 million and $6.0 million during
fiscal 2017, 2016 and 2015 respectively.
The risks of participating in the multi-employer pension plans are as follows:
•

assets contributed to the multi-employer plan by the Group may be used to provide benefits
to employees of other participating employers;

•

if a participating employer stops contributing to the plan, the unfunded obligations of the
plan allocable to such withdrawing employer may be partially borne by the Group; and

•

if the Group stops participating in some of its multi-employer pension plans, the Group may
be required to pay those plans an amount based on its allocable share of the underfunded
status of the plan, referred to as a withdrawal liability.

Defined Contribution Plans
The Group participates in several defined contribution plans. Group contributions to these defined
contribution plans are based on employee contributions and compensation. The expense
recognized under these plans for the year ended April 30, 2017 was $4.3 million (May 1, 2016:
$4.7 million; May 3, 2015: $3.7 million).
Other plans
The Group has various other nonqualified retirement plans and supplemental retirement plans for
executives, designed to provide benefits in excess of those otherwise permitted under the Group’s
qualified retirement plans. These plans are unfunded and comply with IRS rules for nonqualified
plans.

19.

Derivative liabilities
The Group uses interest rate swaps, commodity swaps and forward foreign currency contracts to
hedge market risks relating to possible adverse changes in interest rates, commodity costs,
transportation and foreign currency exchange rates. The Group continually monitors its positions
and the credit rating of the counterparties involved to mitigate the amount of credit exposure to
any one party.
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As of April 30, 2017 and May 1, 2016, the Group designated each of its derivative contracts as a
hedge of a forecasted transaction or of the variability of cash flows to be received or paid related
to a recognized asset or liability (“cash flow hedge”). The following cash flow hedges were
outstanding for the Group:

Interest rate swap valuation
Peso FX contracts
Commodity contracts
Total
Included in :
Prepaid and Other – Current Assets
Derivative Liabilities – Current Liabilities
Derivative Liabilities – Non Current Liabilities

April 30,
2017
($17,891)
2,565
38
($15,288)

May 1,
2016
($35,115)
1,473
(1,630)
($35,272)

$2,685
(9,531)
(8,442)
($15,288)

$1,473
(15,218)
(21,527)
($35,272)

The effect of economic hedges in the consolidated income statement were as follows:

April 30,
2017
($984)
787

Commodity contracts
Foreign exchange contract

May 1,
2016
$6,075
3,067

May 3,
2015
$735
1,054

At April 30, 2017, $7.6 million (May 1, 2016: $12.3 million; May 3, 2015: $0.9 million) are
expected to be reclassified from OCI to the consolidated income statement within the next 12
months.
Interest Rates
As of April 30, 2017 and May 1, 2016, the Group designated each of its derivative contracts as a
hedge of a forecasted transaction or of the variability of cash flows to be received or paid related
to a recognized asset or liability (“cash flow hedge”). Significant terms of the interest rate swap
contracts are as follows:
April 30, 2017 and May 1, 2016

Notional amount Fixed LIBOR
Contract Date
(in millions)
Rate
March 19, 2014
March 19, 2014
March 19, 2014
March 19, 2014

99
113
130
284

2.02%
2.44%
2.79%
3.30%

Effective Date

Maturity Date

February 18, 2016
February 18, 2016
February 18, 2016
February 18, 2016

February 18, 2017
February 18, 2018
February 18, 2019
February 18, 2021
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Commodities
Certain commodities such as diesel fuel and natural gas (collectively, “commodity contracts”) are
used in the production and transportation of the Group’s products. Generally these commodities
are purchased based upon market prices that are established with the vendor as part of the
purchase process. The Group may use futures, swaps, and swaption or option contracts, as deemed
appropriate; to reduce the effect of price fluctuations on anticipated purchases. These contracts
may have a term of up to 24 months. The Group accounts for these commodity derivatives as
cash flow hedges. The effective portion of derivative gains and losses is deferred in equity and
recognized as part of cost of products sold in the appropriate period and the ineffective portion is
recognized as cost of products sold.
The notional amounts of the Group’s commodity contracts were as follows as of the dates
indicated:

April 30,
2017
Natural gas (MMBTU)
Diesel (gallons)

2,569

May 1,
2016
1,958
1,934

Foreign Currency
From time to time, the Group manages its exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange
rates by entering into forward contracts to cover a portion of its projected expenditures paid in
local currency. These contracts may have a term of up to 24 months. The Group accounted for
these contracts as cash flow hedges.
The notional amounts (in Mexican pesos) of the Group’s foreign currency contracts were as
follows as of the dates indicated:

Mexican pesos

April 30,
2017
363,000

May 1,
2016
389,130
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20.

Environmental remediation liabilities

At beginning of the year
Provisions used during the year
Provisions made during the year
At end of the year

April 30,
2017
$6,313
(195)
80
$6,198

May 1,
2016
$4,580
(82)
1,815
$6,313

Provision for environmental remediation relates to legal or constructive obligations incurred by
the Group in connection with its operations. In connection with the closure of the plant in Turkey,
North Carolina, the Group has estimated and recognized additional environmental remediation
liabilities of $0.4 million in fiscal 2017 and $1.8 million in fiscal 2016 (see Note 5 and Note 34).

21.

Trade and other payables

Trade payables
Accrued operating expenses
Withheld from employees (taxes and social security cost)
Book overdrafts
Other payables

22.

April 30,
2017
$97,217
48,183
270
12,191
2,624
$160,485

May 1,
2016
$110,129
45,698
390
11,438
998
$168,653

Revenue
Revenue of the Group comprises gross invoiced sales, net of discounts and returns, and is
recognized when goods are delivered and title has passed to customers. All intra-group
transactions have been excluded from Group revenue.
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23.

Significant expenses by nature
The following items have been included in Cost of sales, Distribution and selling expenses, and
General and administrative expenses for the year:

Raw materials and packaging materials
Inventory write-downs
Distribution expense
Brokerage
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Amortization of intangible assets
Provision (reversal) of impairment allowance
for trade receivables
Audit fees
Legal expenses
Other professional and contracted services
Operating lease rentals
Staff costs:
Pension costs – defined benefit pension plan*
Pension costs – provident fund
Social security costs
Value of employee services received under
share-based incentive plans
Wages, salaries and other benefits

April 30,
2017
$854,143
22,923
219,961
19,996
37,949
9,330

May 1,
2016
$880,390
23,951
231,999
17,826
47,662
5,000
9,308

May 3,
2015
$826,390
2,734
225,712
22,413
42,512
6,988

117
1,164
6,265
47,690
46,305

47
1,895
4,436
45,521
41,764

(144)
2,000
9,357
45,351
42,268

7,119
4,540
17,532

(17,951)
4,703
19,135

3,566
4,523
15,373

794
288,920

552
291,285

284,351

April 30,
2017
$1,058
1,046
(1,028)
-

May 1,
2016
($1,789)
(860)
38,000
(3,511)

May 3,
2015
$(4,810)
-

1,217
$2,293

1,323
$33,163

(5,186)
(1,917)
($11,913)

*Includes effect of post-retirement medical plan modification for fiscal 2016.

24.

Other income (expenses) – net

Unsettled hedge
Net gain on sale of assets held for sale
Foreign exchange loss – net
Working capital settlement income
Other plant closure costs
Loss on de-consolidation of
Del Monte Andina, C.A.
Miscellaneous
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On April 25, 2016, DMFI and Big Heart Pet Brands entered into a settlement agreement, under
which Big Heart Pet Brands paid/refunded to DMFI $38.0 million in full satisfaction of the postclosing working capital amount adjustment under the Purchase Agreement for the Consumer
Food Business, resolving a previous dispute. This resulted to a settlement gain of $38.0 million
in fiscal 2016.

25.

Net finance expense

Interest expenses
- bank loans
discount amortization
deferred financing fee amortization
interest on loans and borrowings
- interest rate swap reclassification adjustment
Net finance expense

April 30,
2017

May 1,
2016

May 3,
2015

($854)
(6,019)
(62,550)
(11,399)
($80,822)

($854)
(6,037)
(62,500)
(2,302)
($71,693)

($854)
(5,988)
(58,734)
($65,576)
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26.

Income taxes
April 30,
2017
Current tax expense
- Current year
Deferred tax benefit
- Origination and reversal of temporary
differences
- Unrecognized deferred tax assets
Income tax benefit
Reconciliation of effective tax rate
Profit (loss) before taxation
Taxation on profit at weighted average of
the applicable tax rates
Non-taxable income
Unrecognized deferred tax assets
Other
Income tax benefit

May 1,
2016

May 3,
2015

($1,005)

($1,544)

($921)

19,280
(11,428)
$6,847

3,591
$2,047

29,282
$28,361

($48,359)

$28,147

($82,886)

18,377
(11,428)
(102)
$6,847

(10,696)
14,720
(1,977)
$2,047

31,499
(3,138)
$28,361

April 30,
2017

May 1,
2016

May 3,
2015

Applicable tax rates
- United States of America
- Mexico

38%
30%

38%
30%

38%
30%

* based on gross profit for the year

Company
There is no tax expense for the Company as the income of the Company is exempt from all income
taxes in the British Virgin Islands.
Sources of estimation uncertainty
The Group has exposure to income taxes in several foreign jurisdictions. Significant judgment is
involved in determining the group-wide provision for income taxes. There are certain transactions
and computations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course
of business. The Group recognizes liabilities for expected tax issues based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recognized, such differences will impact the income tax and
deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.
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27.

Seasonality of operations
The Group’s business is subject to seasonal fluctuations as a result of increased demand during
the holiday season. Products are sold heavily during the Thanksgiving and Christmas period. As
such, the sales are usually highest during the three months from August to October.
The Group operates 14 production facilities as of April 30, 2017 and 15 production facilities as
of May 1, 2016 in the U.S. and Mexico. Fruit plants are located in California and Washington,
vegetable plants are located primarily in the Midwest and tomato plants are located in California
and Indiana.
The Group has a seasonal production cycle that generally runs between the months of June and
October. This seasonal production primarily relates to the majority of processed fruit, vegetable
and tomato products, while some of its processed fruit and tomato products and its College Inn
broth products are produced throughout the year. Additionally, the Group has contracts to copack certain processed fruit and vegetable products for other companies.

28.

Stock option and incentive plans
Stock Option Programs
The 2014 Equity Compensation Plan (ECP) was adopted by the Board of Directors of DMFHI
effective September 24, 2014. The 2014 Plan provided for the grant of stock options to key
executives.
During fiscal 2015, DMFHI granted 7,065,000 stock options under the ECP. The options granted
were subject to service-based and performance-based vesting and vested annually over seven
years and had a term of 10 years. The grant date fair value of these options was $1.22.
As of May 3, 2015, 2,265,000 shares options were available for future grant. However, in
September 2015, the 2014 ECP was cancelled with none of the granted options vested as of
termination of the plan.
During the second quarter of fiscal 2016, the Group established a new plan, the 2015 Executive
Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP), which intends to provide key executives with the opportunity
to receive grants of stock options, cash-based awards and other stock-based awards. 9,000,000
shares of common stock of DMFHI were reserved for grant under the plan. In fiscal 2016, the
Group granted nonqualified stock options and cash incentive awards under the plan.
During the third quarter of fiscal 2016, DMFHI granted 7,405,000 stock options under a
nonqualified stock option grant agreement. The options granted are subject to service-based and
performance-based vesting and vest over forty-four (44) months and have a term of ten (10) years.
A portion of the total options will vest each year depending on the attainment of defined EBITDA
targets and a portion will vest when the employee remains employed for a period of forty-four
(44) months from the grant date until the defined exercisability date. The grant date fair value of
these options is $2.04.
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In September 2016, the authorized shares reserved for grant under the plan was increased from
9,000,000 to 15,000,000. As of April 30, 2017 and May 1, 2016, 12,240,408 and 2,380,000 share
options were available for future grant, respectively.
The fair values of the stock options granted were estimated at the date of grant using a BlackScholes option pricing model. This model estimates the fair value of the options based on a
number of assumptions, such as expected option life, interest rates, the current fair market value
and expected volatility of common stock and expected dividends. The expected term of options
granted was based on the “simplified” method. Expected stock price volatility was determined
based on the historical volatilities of comparable companies over a historical period that matches
the expected life of the options. The risk-free interest rate was based on the expected U.S.
Treasury rate over the expected life. The dividend yield was based on the expectation that no
dividends will be paid. The following table presents the weighted-average assumptions for
performance-based stock options granted for the grant dates indicated:

Expected life (in years)
Expected volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Dividend yield

November 3,
2015
5.5
38.49%
1.64%
0%

September 24,
2014
3.0
34.32%
0.97%
0%

Stock option activity and related information during the years indicated was as follows:

Outstanding at beginning of year
Cancelled
Granted
Forfeited
Exercised
Outstanding at end of year
Exercisable at end of year

2017
Weightedaverage
Number of
exercise
options
price
6,620,000
$5.39
(3,059,800)
5.39
(800,608)
5.39
2,759,592
$5.39
-

2016
Weightedaverage
Number of
exercise
options
price
6,735,000
$5.00
(6,735,000)
5.00
7,405,000
5.39
(785,000)
5.39
6,620,000
$5.39
-

The expense recognized in the consolidated income statement for equity-settled share based
compensation amounted to $794 and $552 in fiscal 2017 and 2016, respectively, and were
included in “Wages, salaries and other benefits”.
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Cash Incentive Award
On November 3, 2015, DMFHI granted a total cash incentive of $13.8 million to key executives
under cash incentive award agreements. The awards will vest when the employee remains
employed for a period of approximately four (4) years from the grant date until the defined vesting
date. Of the total grant, $7.3 million and $13.0 million remained outstanding as of April 30, 2017
and May 1, 2016, respectively. The accrued net obligation for the cash incentive amounted to
$3.7 million and $1.8 million as of April 30, 2017 and May 1, 2016, respectively, and the total
expense recognized under “Wages, salaries and other benefits” in the consolidated income
statement amounted to $3.4 million and $1.8 million in fiscal 2017 and 2016, respectively (see
Note 18).

29.

Capital management
The Board’s policy is to maintain a sound capital base to maintain investor, creditor and market
confidence and to sustain future development of the business. The Group’s capital comprises its
share premium and reserves. The Board of Directors monitors the return on capital, which the
Group defines as profit or loss for the year divided by total shareholders’ equity. The Board also
monitors the level of dividends paid to ordinary shareholders.
The bank loans of the Group contain various capital covenants with respect to capital maintenance
and ability to incur additional indebtedness. The Board ensures that loan covenants are considered
as part of its capital management through constant monitoring of covenant results through interim
and full year results.
There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the year.

30.

Financial risk management
The Group has exposure to the following risks from financial instruments:
 credit risk
 liquidity risk
 market risk
 foreign exchange risk
 interest rate risk
 commodity price risk
Risk management framework
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the
Group’s risk management framework. The Audit and Risk Committee is responsible for
monitoring the Group’s risk management policies developed by management.
The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the risks faced by
the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits.
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Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market
conditions and the Group’s activities. The Group, through its training and management standards
and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all
employees understand their roles and obligations.
The Audit and Risk Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s
risk management policies and procedures, and reviews the adequacy of the risk management
framework in relation to the risks faced by the Group. The Audit and Risk Committee is assisted
in its oversight role by Internal Audit. Internal Audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews
of risk management controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to the Audit and
Risk Committee.
Financial risk management objectives and policies
Risk management is integral to the whole business of the Group. The Group has a system of
controls in place to create an acceptable balance between the cost of risks occurring and the cost
of managing the risks. The Board continually monitors the Group’s risk management process to
ensure that an appropriate balance between risk and control is achieved.
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s
receivables from customers. The carrying amounts of financial assets in the statement of financial
position represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk, before taking into account any
collateral held. The Group and Company do not hold any collateral in respect of their financial
assets.
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer. However, management also considers the demographics of the Group’s customer base,
including the default risk of the industry and countries in which customers are located, as these
factors may have an influence on credit risk.
The Audit and Risk Committee has approved a credit policy under which each new customer is
analyzed individually for creditworthiness before the Group’s standard payment and delivery
terms and conditions are offered. The Group’s review includes credit ratings, where available,
and in some cases bank references. Purchase limits are established for each customer, which
represents the maximum open amount. Customers failing to meet the Group’s benchmark credit
worthiness may transact with the Group only on a prepayment or Letters of Credit basis.
Exposure to credit risk
At the reporting date, the maximum exposure to credit risk for loans and receivables is
geographically concentrated in the Americas region.
A relatively limited number of customers account for a large percentage of the Group’s total sales.
One customer accounted for approximately 28% of list sales for the year ended April 30, 2017
(May 1, 2016: 27%), which approximates gross sales. The customer accounted for approximately
26% of trade accounts receivable as of April 30, 2017 (May 1, 2016: 23%). The Group’s top ten
customers accounted for approximately 64% of list sales for the year ended April 30, 2017
(May 1, 2016: 63%). The Group closely monitors the credit risk associated with its customers.
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Impairment losses
The aging of trade and other receivables that were not impaired at the reporting date was as
follows:

Note
Not past due
Past due 0 - 60 days
Past due 61 - 90 days
Past due 91 - 120 days
More than 120 days
11

April 30,
2017
$65,175
14,898
1,743
1,163
4,694
$87,673

May 1,
2016
$66,776
27,357
3,367
2,450
8,443
$108,393

The Group believes that the unimpaired amount past due by more than 60 days are still collectible
in full, based on historical payment behavior and extensive analysis of customers’ risk rating. An
analysis of the credit quality of loans and receivables that are neither past due nor impaired
indicates that they are of acceptable risk.
The Group sells its products through major distributors and buyers in various geographical
regions. Management has a credit risk policy which includes, among others, the requirement of
certain securities to ensure prompt observance and performance of the obligations of its
distributors and other buyers from time to time. The Group monitors its outstanding trade
receivables on an on-going basis.
The table below shows the credit quality of the Group’s financial assets based on their historical
experience with the corresponding third parties:

April 30, 2017
Cash in bank
Trade and other receivables
May 3, 2016
Cash in bank
Trade and other receivables

Grade A

Grade B

Grade C

Total

$3,114
$3,114

$87,673
$87,673

$130
$130

$3,114
87,803
$90,917

$1,186
$1,186

$108,393
$108,393

$97
$97

$1,186
108,490
$109,676

Grade A financial assets pertain to those cash that are deposited in reputable banks. Grade B
includes receivables that are collected on their due dates even without an effort from the Group
to follow them up, while receivables which are collected on their due dates provided that the
Group made a persistent effort to collect them are included under Grade C receivables.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are held with banks and financial institutions which are regulated. The
Group’s cash in bank balances are all held in the Americas.
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Apart from the above, the Group have no significant concentration of credit risk with any single
counterparty or group counterparties.
Derivatives
The derivatives are entered into with banks and financial institutions which are regulated.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations
associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial
asset. The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will
always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed
conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.
The Group is able to increase the commitments under the ABL Facility, subject only to the
consent of the new or existing lenders providing such increases, such that the aggregate principal
amount of commitments does not exceed $450.0 million. The lenders under this facility are under
no obligation to provide any such additional commitments, and any increase in commitments will
be subject to customary conditions precedent. Notwithstanding any such increase in the facility
size, the Group’s ability to borrow under the facility will remain limited at all times by the
borrowing base (to the extent the borrowing base is less than the commitments).
The Group has the right to request an additional $100.0 million plus an additional amount of
secured indebtedness under the First Lien Term Loan and the Second Lien Term Loan. Lenders
under this facility are under no obligation to provide any such additional loans, and any such
borrowings will be subject to customary conditions precedent, including satisfaction of a
prescribed leverage ratio, subject to the identification of willing lenders and other customary
conditions precedent.
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The following are the expected contractual undiscounted cash outflows of financial liabilities,
including interest payments and excluding the impact of netting agreements:
Carrying
amount

Contractual Less than
cash flows
1 year

1-5
years

More than
5 years

April 30, 2017
Derivative financial liabilities
Interest rate swaps used for hedging,
net-settled
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Secured bank loans
- Short-term
- Long-term
Accrued lease liabilities
Trade and other payables

$17,891

$19,041

$7,767

$11,274

$-

169,114
922,294
4,614
160,485
$1,274,398

175,100
1,179,973
165,054
160,485
$1,699,653

175,100
55,000
32,671
160,485
$431,023

1,124,973
84,320
$1,220,567

48,063
$48,063

Carrying
amount

Contractual Less than
cash flows
1 year

1-5
years

More than
5 years

May 1, 2016
Derivative financial liabilities
Interest rate swaps used for hedging,
net-settled
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Secured bank loans
- Short-term
- Long-term
Accrued lease liabilities
Trade and other payables

$35,115

$36,130

$11,258

$24,873

$-

226,523
922,554
2,439
168,653
$1,355,284

232,542
1,226,975
152,318
168,653
$1,816,618

232,542
57,895
41,193
168,653
$511,541

901,127
86,752
$1,012,752

267,953
24,373
$292,326

The Group’s bank loans contain loan covenants, for which breaches will require the Group to
repay the loans earlier than indicated in the above table. The covenants are constantly monitored
on a regular basis by the treasury department and regularly reported to management to ensure
compliance.
For derivative financial liabilities, the disclosure shows net cash from amounts for derivatives
that are net cash settled.
It is not expected that the cash flows included in the maturity analysis could occur significantly
earlier, or at significantly different amounts.
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Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates
and commodity prices, will affect the Group’s income due to changes in fair value or future cash
flows of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control
market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return. The market risk
exposure of the Group comprise of foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and commodity price
risk.
Foreign exchange risk
The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk from its subsidiaries operating in foreign countries,
which generate revenue and incur costs in foreign currencies, and from those operations of its
local subsidiaries, which are in foreign currencies. The currency giving rise to this risk is
primarily the US dollar, Mexican peso and Venezuelan bolivar.
Group entities maintain their respective books and accounts in their functional currencies. As a
result, the Group is subject to transaction and translation exposures resulting from currency
exchange rate fluctuations.
From time to time, the Group manages its exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange
rates by entering into forward contracts to cover a portion of its projected expenditures paid in
foreign currency. The Group accounts for these contracts as cash flow hedges.
At the reporting date, the Group’s exposure to the Mexican peso is as follows:

Trade and other receivables
Cash
Trade and other payables

April 30,
2017
$4,799
183
(4,581)
$401

May 1,
2016
$3,813
294
(5,332)
($1,225)

Sensitivity analysis
A 10% strengthening of the group entities’ foreign currencies against their respective functional
currency at the reporting date would have (decreased)/increased loss/profit before taxation and
equity by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular
interest rates, remain constant.
A 10% weakening of the group entities’ foreign currencies against their respective functional
currency would have the equal but opposite effect on the amounts shown below, on the basis that
all other variables remain constant.
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Mexican Peso
Loss/profit
before
taxation
Equity
April 30, 2017
10% strengthening
10% weakening

$40
($40)

$1,866
($1,866)

May 1, 2016
10% strengthening
10% weakening

($123)
$123

$2,222
($3,696)

Interest rate risk
The Group’s cash balances are placed with reputable global banks and financial institutions. The
Group manages its interest rate risks by placing the cash balances with varying maturities and
interest rate terms. The Group obtains financing through bank borrowings and leasing
arrangements. Funding is obtained from bank loan facilities for both short-term and long-term
requirements.
Interest rate profile of interest bearing financial instruments
The interest rate profile of the Group’s interest bearing financial instruments as reported to
management of the Group is as follows:

April 30,
2017
Variable rate instruments
Loans and borrowings
Interest rate swaps

$1,091,408
17,891
$1,109,299

May 1,
2016
$1,149,077
35,115
$1,184,192
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Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments
At the reporting date, if interest rates had moved as illustrated in the table below, with all other
variables held constant, profit/loss before tax in the next 12 months and equity would have been
affected as follows:

Loss/profit
before
taxation

Equity
- hedging
reserve

April 30, 2017
100 basis points increase
100 basis points decrease

($5,879)
$5,879

($10,532)
$4,688

May 1, 2016
100 basis points increase
100 basis points decrease

($5,535)
$5,535

($15,803)
$6,603

Commodity price risk
Certain commodities such as diesel fuel and natural gas (collectively, “commodity contracts”) are
used in the production and transportation of the Group’s products. Generally these commodities
are purchased based upon market prices that are established with the vendors as part of the
procurement process. The Group uses futures, swaps, and swaption or option contracts, as
deemed appropriate; to reduce the effect of price fluctuations on anticipated purchases. These
contracts may have a term of up to 24 months.
Sensitivity analysis
A 10% change in commodity prices at the reporting date would have decreased/(increased)
profit/loss before tax and increased/(decreased) equity by the amounts shown below.

April 30, 2017
Profit/loss
before tax
Equity
10% increase in commodity price
10% decrease in commodity price

($400)
$400

$$-

May 1, 2016
Profit/loss
before tax
Equity
($281)
$281

($494)
$494
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31.

Accounting classification and fair values
Fair values versus carrying amounts
The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the
statement of financial position, are as follows:

Loans and
Note receivables

Carrying amount
O ther
financial
Derivatives
liabilities

Total

Fair value

Fair value
Hierarchy

April 30, 2017
Cash

13

$3,114

T rade and other
receivables

$-

$-

$3,114

11

Hedge contracts

12

87,673

-

-

87,673

$90,787

2,685
$2,685

$-

2,685
$93,472

$2,685
$2,685

Loans and borrowings 16
T rade and other
payables*
21

$-

$-

$1,091,408

$1,091,408

$927,261

-

-

160,215

160,215

Hedge contracts

$-

17,973
$17,973

$1,251,623

17,973
$1,269,596

19

17,973
$945,234

Level 2

Level 2

Level 2

*Excludes taxes and social security cost withheld from employees

Not Loans and
e receivables

Carrying amount
O ther
financial
Derivatives
liabilities

Total

Fair value

Fair value
Hierarchy

May 1, 2016
Cash
T rade and other
receivables

13

$1,186

$-

$-

$1,186

11

Hedge contracts

12

108,393

-

-

108,393

$109,579

1,473
$1,473

$-

1,473
$111,052

$1,473
$1,473

Loans and borrowings 16
T rade and other
payables*
21

$-

$-

$1,149,077

$1,149,077

$1,098,655

-

-

168,263

168,263

Hedge contracts

$-

36,745
$36,745

$1,317,340

36,745
$1,354,085

19

36,745
$1,135,400

Level 2

Level 2

Level 2

*Excludes taxes and social security cost withheld from employees
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32.

Determination of fair values
Fair value hierarchy
The table below analyzes recurring non-financial assets carried at fair value. The different levels
are defined as follows:
 Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the
Group can access at the measurement date.
 Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.
 Level 3: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring
basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by
re-assessing the categorization at the end of each reporting period.
For purposes of the fair value disclosure, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities
on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair
value hierarchy, as explained above.

April 30, 2017
Level 2 Level 3 Totals

May 1, 2016
Level 2 Level 3 Totals

Financial assets
Derivative assets
$2,685
$ - $2,685
$1,473
$$1,473
Non-financial assets
Assets held for sale
1,950
1,950
Financial liabilities
Derivative liabilities
17,973
- 17,973
36,745
36,745
During the year, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements,
and no transfers into and out of Level 3 fair value measurements.
A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair
value, for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes based on the following methods.
Measurement of fair values
Financial instruments
Fair value and fair value hierarchy information on financial instruments are disclosed in
Note 31.
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Valuation techniques and significant observable inputs
Summarized below are the valuation techniques used in measuring Level 2 and Level 3 fair
values, as well as the significant unobservable inputs used.
Financial instruments measured at fair value
Type

Valuation technique

Forward exchange
contracts

Market comparison technique: The fair values are based on brokers’ quotes.
Fair values reflect the credit risk of the instrument and include adjustments
to take into account the credit risk of the Group and counterparty when
appropriate.

Interest rate swaps

Market comparison technique: The fair values are calculated using a
discounted cash flow analysis based on terms of the swap contracts and the
observable interest rate curve. Fair values reflect the credit risk of the
instrument and include adjustments to take into account the credit risk of the
Group and counterparty when appropriate.

Commodity contracts

Market comparison technique: The commodities are traded over-the-counter
and are valued based on the Chicago Board of Trade quoted prices for
similar instruments in active markets or corroborated by observable market
data available from the Energy Information Administration. The values of
these contracts are based on the daily settlement prices published by the
exchanges on which the contracts are traded.

Financial instruments not measured at fair value
Type

Valuation technique

Financial liabilities

Discounted cash flows: The fair value is calculated based on the present
value of future principal and interest cash flows, discounted at the market
rate of interest at the reporting date.

Other financial assets
and liabilities

The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities with maturity of one
year or less than one year (including trade and other receivables, cash and
cash equivalents, and trade and other payables) are assumed to approximate
their fair values.

Non-financial assets
The valuation techniques used for measuring the fair value of non-financial assets were as
follows:
Assets

Valuation technique

Assets held for sale

Market comparison technique and cost technique: The valuation model
considered quoted market prices for similar items when available, and
depreciated replacement cost as appropriate.
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33.

Commitments
Operating lease commitments
The Group leases certain property, equipment and office and warehouse facilities. The leases
typically run for an initial period of 2 to 25 years, with an option to renew the lease after that
date. Some of the leases contain escalation clauses but do not provide for contingent rents. The
Group determined that the significant risks and rewards incidental to ownership are retained by
the lessors and classified these leases as operating leases.
Lease terms do not contain any restrictions on Group activities concerning dividends, additional
debts or further leasing.
At the reporting date, the Group has commitments for future minimum lease payments under noncancellable operating leases as follows:

Within one year
Between one to five years
More than five years

April 30,
2017
$32,671
84,320
48,063
$165,054

May 1,
2016
$41,193
86,752
24,373
$152,318

Purchase commitments
The Group has entered into non-cancellable agreements with growers, co-packers, packaging
suppliers and other service providers with commitments generally ranging from one year to
twenty years, to purchase certain quantities of raw products, including fruit, vegetables, tomatoes,
packaging services and ingredients. At the reporting date, the Group has commitments for future
minimum payments under non-cancellable agreements as follows:

Within one year
Between one to five years
More than five years

April 30,
2017
$311,617
329,368
443,525
$1,084,510

May 1,
2016
$387,548
284,728
340,724
$1,013,000
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Future capital expenditure
The Group has planned capital expenditures for property, plant and equipment approved by the
Board of Directors.

April 30,
2017

May 1,
2016

Capital expenditure not provided for in the
financial statements

- approved by Directors and contracted for
- approved by Directors but not contracted for

34.

$10,369
100,000
$110,369

$10,983
43,917
$54,900

Contingencies
Legal proceedings
Consumer Food Business
As described in Note 1 and Note 7, the Group acquired the Consumer Food Business in February
2014. The matters described below arise in connection with the Consumer Food Business.
Kosta Misbranding Class Action
On April 5, 2012, Plaintiff (Kosta) filed a complaint against DMFI in the U.S. District Court for
the Northern District of California alleging false and misleading advertising under California’s
consumer protection laws. Plaintiff alleges that DMFI made a variety of false and misleading
labeling and advertising claims including, but not limited to lycopene and antioxidant claims for
tomato products and claims that DMFI misled consumers with respect to its refrigerated fruit
products. The complaint sought certification as a class action. On July 30, 2015 the Court denied
Plaintiff’s motion for class certification. Plaintiff has appealed this ruling to the U.S. Ninth
Circuit Court of Appeal. The appeal has been fully briefed. Oral arguments are expected to be
scheduled for 2017. The Group cannot at this time reasonably estimate a range of exposure, if
any, of the potential liability.
Fresh Del Monte v. DMFI
On December 19, 2013, Fresh Del Monte (“FDP”) filed a complaint against DMFI in the
U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York for breach of a 1989 License Agreement
(“License”). FDP asserts that DMFI committed a breach by denying FDP’s requests for additional
rights under the License. DMFI denies these claims and counterclaimed for breach of contract,
trademark infringement, and unfair competition on March 31, 2014. Among other things, DMFI
asserts that FDP committed a breach and trademark infringement by marketing under the Del
Monte trademark pasteurized juice products, processed avocado and guacamole products, and
combination products that combine fresh and non-fresh ingredients. Both parties seek declaratory,
monetary, and injunctive relief from the other.
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On May 5, 2017 the parties executed a Settlement Agreement. Effectuation of that Agreement
and dismissal of all claims and counterclaims in this litigation were contingent on the execution
of several related agreements. On June 27, 2017, the Settlement Agreement was finalized and
became effective. All claims and counterclaims in this litigation have been dismissed with
prejudice.
Bruce, et al v. DMFI
A complaint was filed on October 12, 2016 in US District Court for the Northern District of
California seeking class certification and alleging age and disability discrimination as well as
violations of PAGA due to in-season attendance policy. DMFI denies the claims. DMFI’s Motion
to dismiss was filed on January 11, 2017 and hearing was held on February 16, 2017. The Court
granted DMFI’s motion with leave to amend. Amended complaint was filed on March 9, 2017
and DMFI’s answer was filed on April 19, 2017. Mediation has been set for July 20, 2017. The
Group cannot at this time reasonably estimate a range of exposure, if any, of potential liability.
Other
The Group is the subject of, or a party to, other various suits and pending or threatened litigation.
While it is not feasible to predict or determine the ultimate outcome of these matters, The Group
believes that none of these legal proceedings will have a material adverse effect on its financial
position.
Source of estimation uncertainty
The Group, in the ordinary course of business, sets up appropriate provisions for its present legal
or constructive obligations, if any, in accordance with its policies on provisions. In recognizing
and measuring provisions, management takes risk and uncertainties into account.
No provision for probable losses arising from legal contingencies were recognized in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements as of April 30, 2017 and May 1, 2016.
As of April 30, 2017, provision for probable losses arising from environmental remediation
amounted to $6.7 million, $6.2 million of which is noncurrent (May 1, 2016: $6.3 million, all of
which is noncurrent) (see Note 20).
As of April 30, 2017, provision for retained liabilities arising from workers’ compensation claims
amounted to $27.2 million, $23.4 million of which is noncurrent (May 1, 2016: $35.3 million,
$31.0 million of which is noncurrent) (see Note 17).

35.

Related parties
Related party transactions
For the purposes of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Group if
the Group has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the party or exercise significant
influence over the party in making financial and operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the
Group and the party are subject to common control. Related parties may be individuals or other
entities.
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In connection with the purchase of the Consumer Food Business, the Group paid approximately
$2.2 million in transaction costs primarily as a reimbursement to DMPL or directly on DMPL’s
behalf in fiscal 2015.
Other than those disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, transactions with related parties
are as follows:
Category/
Transaction
Parent
- Loan from
parent

- Administrative
expenses

Year

Transaction
Amount

Outstanding Balance
Receivable
Payable

Terms

2017

$-

$-

$10

Due and demandable;

2016

-

-

10

non- interest bearing

2015

-

-

10

2017

57

57

-

Due and demandable;

2016

-

-

-

non- interest bearing

2015

-

-

-

2017

2,508

197

1,790

2016

10,426

295

-

2015

435

6,194

-

2017

190,301

-

2016

111,287

2015

Conditions
Unsecured

Unsecured

Under Common
Control
- Sale of goods and
other charges

- Purchases of
goods

- Administrative
expenses

Due and demandable; Unsecured; no
non- interest bearing

impairment

203,181

Due and demandable;

Unsecured

-

70,439

non- interest bearing

52,004

-

45,811

2017

978

641

2,932

Due and demandable;

2016

885

-

5,496

non- interest bearing

2015

390

-

1,609

2017

-

-

-

Due and demandable;

2016

1,324

-

-

non- interest bearing

2015

-

-

-

Unsecured

S ubsidiaries
- Sale of goods

TOTAL

2017

$895

$207,913

TOTAL

2016

$295

$75,945

TOTAL

2015

$6,194

$47,430

Unsecured

The transactions with related parties are carried out based on terms agreed between the parties
which are comparable to arm’s length transactions.
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The Group has an agreement to source the majority of its pineapple requirements from a
subsidiary of DMPL. Purchases under this agreement amounted to $51.3 million, $32.5 million
and $52.0 million for fiscal 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
The Group has an arrangement whereby DMPL, through a subsidiary, sources certain raw
materials and packaging materials. Purchases under this arrangement amounted to $139.0 million
and $78.8 million for fiscal 2017 and 2016, respectively.
In fiscal 2017, 2016 and 2015, DMFI accrued $646, $614 and $263, respectively, for rental
expenses and property management fees relating to the use of office spaces owned by a subsidiary
of its parent, DMPL, and included under administrative expenses above.
Key management personnel compensation
Key management personnel of the Group are those persons having authority and responsibility
for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group. The Directors of the Company
and key executive officers (excluding executive directors) are considered as key management
personnel of the Group.
The key management personnel compensation is as follows:

April 30,
2017
Key executive officers
(excluding Directors):
Short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits
Other long-term benefits
Termination benefits
Share-based compensation

36.

$11,643
1,587
3,381
5,744
794
$23,149

May 1,
2016

$11,569
1,606
1,773
1,712
552
$17,212

May 3,
2015

$14,102
3,869
$17,971

Subsequent events
Joint venture agreements
In connection with the June 27, 2017 Settlement Agreement (see Note 34), DMFI and FDP
entered into four joint venture agreements. These joint ventures will pursue sales of expanded
refrigerated offerings across all distribution and sales channels, and will establish a new retail
food and beverage concept. These joint ventures will initially focus on the U.S. market, with the
potential for expansion into other territories. An estimate of the joint ventures’ financial effect to
the Group cannot be made at this time.
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Supplemental Disclosures
The following information is intended to comply with the requirements in the Wisconsin
Agriculture Producer Statute 126 and Agriculture, Trade and Consumer Protection Chapter 101.
Financial ratios
The following table represents the Group’s current ratio and debt to equity ratio (as calculated in
accordance with the above statutes) as of April 30, 2017:

Current ratio:
Current assets/ current liabilities

Debt to equity ratio:
Total liabilities/ total stockholder's equity

$930,153
568,530

= 1.64

$1,626,985
593,766

= 2.74

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
The Group has an allowance for doubtful accounts totalling $0.13 million, $0.10 million, and
$0.05 million on April 30, 2017, May 1, 2016, and May 3, 2015, respectively. The method for
determining the allowance is “specific identification” such that the Group reviews the accounts
receivable balances and the aging and reserves for any balances that are determined to be
uncollectible. Such balances may include those due from companies that are having financial
trouble or filing bankruptcy, balances older than a year or balances that the Group has determined
to be uncollectible for another reason. The Company does not have any accounts receivable
balances that are older than a year that are not covered by the allowance for doubtful accounts.
The Group does not have any non-trade notes or accounts receivables from an officer, director,
employee, partner, or stockholder, or from a member of the family of any of those individuals.
The Company does not have any notes or accounts receivables from a parent organization, a
subsidiary, or affiliates, on a net basis.
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